Örebro Studies in Medicine 326



Bengt Rasmussen

Clinical and genetic studies of high-risk myelodysplastic syndromes and acute myeloid leukemia with chromosome 5q deletion

Author: Rasmussen Bengt, Med gem USÖ **Title:** Clinical and genetic studies of high-risk myelodysplastic syndromes and acute myeloid leukemia with chromosome 5q deletion

Publisher: Örebro University, Year www.oru.se/publikationer

Print: Örebro University, Repro 05/2025 **Cover image:** Multicolor FISH showing a complex aberrant karyotype.

ISSN: 1652-4063 ISBN: 978-91-7529-661-6 (print) ISBN: 978-91-7529-662-3 (pdf)

Abstract

Patients with high-risk myelodysplastic syndromes (MDS) with a chromosome 5q deletion (del(5q)) have a poor prognosis and are often associated with a complex karyotype and TP53 mutations, factors worsening the prognosis. The hypomethylating agent azacitidine (AZA) is the first-line treatment. Lenalidomide (LEN) is an effective therapy for lower-risk MDS with del(5q). The aim of this thesis were clinical and genetic studies in patients with highrisk MDS and acute myeloid leukemia (AML) with 20-30% marrow blasts with a karyotype including del(5q). In a prospective, multicenter, open-label, randomized phase II study, we studied if AZA + LEN was superior to AZA alone in high-risk MDS and AML with 20-30% marrow blasts with del(5q). Seventytwo patients were included between 2012 and 2017. The overall response rate (ORR) in the treated cohort was 39% for AZA and 44% for AZA + LEN (P=0.63). The addition of LEN to AZA did not improve outcome. In paper II we studied the influence of cytogenetics on treatment response in the study and if specific cytogenetic findings could predict outcome. Patients with del(5q) and complex karyotype or an unbalanced translocation of 5q had a shorter median overall survival (OS) (P=0.004). The aim in paper III was to optimize diagnostic procedures and follow-up assessment with cytomorphology, bone marrow trephine biopsy and immunohistochemistry (IHC) in patients with higher-risk MDS and AML with 20-30% blasts with a karyotype including del(5q). In 18 patients (25%) a higher bone marrow blast percentage was detected by IHC compared to cytomorphology, shifting the diagnosis to either a higher-risk MDS subgroup or AML and is useful for correct subclassification in del(5q) high-risk myeloid disease and for response assessment. In conclusion, the findings in this thesis show that high-risk MDS with del(5q) is a myeloid disorder with a dismal prognosis. There seems to be a window of molecular response to AZA after 3 months of treatment. Future studies should focus on the therapeutic window as a possibility for allogeneic stem cell trans-

plantation.

Keywords: Myelodysplastic syndromes, Acute myeloid leukemia, Chromosome 5q deletion, Complex karyotype, TP53 mutation, Clinical trial, azacitidine, lenalidomide, bone marrow trephine biopsy, IHC p53 To my family

Table of Contents

List of papers	7
List of abbreviations	8
Myelodysplastic syndromes	11
Diagnostics	12
Morphological examinations	13
Cytogenetics	. 13
Next-generation sequencing	13
Risk validation	14
MDS with deletion 5q	. 18
The <i>TP53</i> mutation - Shifting the deletion of 5q from <i>good</i> to <i>very poor</i>	
prognosis	. 20
AML and high-risk MDS – The same disease with different blast counts?	. 21
MDS in the light of an aging population	. 23
Treatment	26
Erythropoiesis-stimulating agents	. 26
Luspatercept	26
Immunosuppressive therapy	27
Chemotherapy	27
Hypomethylating agents	27
Lenalidomide in higher-risk MDS and AML treatment	29
Future therapies	. 33
Allogeneic hematopoietic stem-cell transplantation	. 35
Aims of the thesis	. 39
Paper I	. 39
Paper II	. 39
Paper III	. 39
Patients and methods	40
Data sources	40
Methodological considerations	41
Cytogenetic analysis	46

Clinical and genetic studies of high-risk myelodysplastic syndromes and acute myeloid leukemia with chromosome 5q deletion

Karyotyping	
FISH Analysis	
Multicolor FISH	
Telomere/Centromere FISH	
Cytogenetic Response	
Bone marrow analysis	48
Bone marrow histology	
Cytomorphology	
Next generation sequencing	49
Statistical analyses	49
Ethical considerations	51
Results and discussion	52
Paper I	52
Main findings	52
Limitations	55
Cytogenetic analysis	57
Main findings	57
Limitations	61
Morphological analysis	
Main findings	
Limitations	65
Mutational analysis	66
Main findings	
Correlation with p53 staining status and TP53 mutation	69
Limitations	
Conclusions	73
Future perspectives	74
Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning	77
Acknowledgements	81
References with numbers	84

List of papers

This thesis is based on the following studies, referred to in the text by their Roman numerals.

- I. Rasmussen Bengt, Göhring Gudrun, Bernard Elsa, Nilsson Lars, Tobiasson Magnus, Jädersten Martin, Garelius Hege, Dybedal Ingunn, Grønbaek Kirsten, Ejerblad Elisabeth, Lorenz Fryderyk, Flogegård Max, Werenberg Marcher Claus, Öster Fernström Annette, Cavelier Lucia, Papaemmanuil Elli, Ebeling Freja, Olsnes Kittang Astrid, Nørgaard Jan Maxwell, Saft Leonie, Möllgård Lars, Hellström-Lindberg Eva (2022). "Randomized Phase II Study of Azacitidine ± Lenalidomide in Higher-Risk Myelodysplastic Syndromes and Acute Myeloid Leukemia with a Karyotype Including Del(5q)". Leukemia, 36:1436-1439.
- II. Rasmussen Bengt, Nilsson Lars, Tobiasson Magnus, Jädersten Martin, Garelius Hege, Dybedal Ingunn, Grønbaek Kirsten, Ejerblad Elisabeth, Lorenz Fryderyk, Flogegård Max, Werenberg Marcher Claus, Cavelier Lucia, Ebeling Freja, Olsnes Kittang Astrid, Nørgaard Jan Maxwell, Saft Leonie, Möllgård Lars, Hellström-Lindberg Eva, Schlegelberger Brigitte, Göhring Gudrun (2025). "Influence of cytogenetics on the outcome of patient with high-risk myelodysplastic syndrome including deletion 5q treated with azacitidine with or without lenalidomide". *Genes, Chromosomes and Cancer*, Feb 8;64(2):e70029.
- III. Rasmussen Bengt, Nilsson Lars, Tobiasson Magnus, Jädersten Martin, Garelius Hege, Dybedal Ingunn, Grønbaek Kirsten, Ejerblad Elisabeth, Lorenz Fryderyk, Flogegård Max, Werenberg Marcher Claus, Cavelier Lucia, Ebeling Freja, Olsnes Kittang Astrid, Nørgaard Jan Maxwell, Schlegelberger Brigitte, Göhring Gudrun, Möllgård Lars, Hellström-Lindberg Eva, Saft Leonie. "Trephine biopsy and immunohistochemistry are essential tools for diagnostic and therapeutic evaluation in higherrisk myelodysplastic syndrome and acute myeloid leukemia with del(5q)" (*Manuscript*).

Paper I and II are reprinted with permission from the publishers.

Clinical and genetic studies of high-risk myelodysplastic syndromes and acute myeloid leukemia with chromosome 5q deletion

List of abbreviations

AE	Adverse events
Allo-HSCT	Allogeneic hematopoietic stem-cell transplantation
AML	Acute myeloid leukemia
ANC	Absolute neutrophil counts
Ara-C	Low dose cytarabine
AZA	Azacitidine
BCL-2	B-cell leukemia/lymphoma-2
BSC	Best supportive care
CCyR	Complete cytogenetic response
CD	Cluster of differentiation
CDR	Common deletion region
СН	Clonal hematopoiesis
CHIP	Clonal hematopoiesis of indeterminate potential
CI	Comorbidity index
CK	Complex karyotype
CMML	Chronic myelomonocytic leukemia
cnLOH	Copy neutral loss of heterozygosity
CR	Complete response
del	Deletion
EB	Excess blasts
EPO	Erythropoietin
ESA	Erythropoiesis-stimulating agent

E-TD	Time dependent erythrocyte transfusion dependency
EU	European Union
FISH	Fluorescence in situ hybridization
G-CSF	Granulocyte-colony stimulating factor
Hb	Hemoglobin
HI	Hematologic improvement
HMA	Hypomethylating agents
IC	Intensive chemotherapy
ICC	International Consensus Classification
IDA	Idarubicin
IHC	Immunohistochemistry
INT	Intermediate
IPSS	International prognostic scoring system
IPSS-M	International prognostic scoring system molecular
IPSS-R	Revised international prognostic scoring system
ITT	Intention to treat
iv	Intravenous
IWG	International Working Group
LDH	Lactate dehydrogenase
LEN	Lenalidomide
MDS	Myelodysplastic syndromes
mFISH	Multicolor FISH
MPN	Myeloproliferative neoplasms
MRD	Measurable residual disease

Clinical and genetic studies of high-risk myelodysplastic syndromes and acute myeloid leukemia with chromosome 5q deletion

NGS	Next-generation sequencing
NoCyR	No cytogenetic response
ORR	Overall response rate
OS	Overall survival
PCyR	Partial cytogenetic response
PLT	Platelet counts
ро	Per oral
PR	Partial remission
RAEB	Refractory anemia of excess blasts
RAEB-T	Refractory anemia of excess blasts in transformation
RS	Ring sideroblasts
RBC	Red blood cell
S-	Serum
S- sc	Serum Subcutaneous
S- sc SD	Serum Subcutaneous Stable disease
S- sc SD SNP	Serum Subcutaneous Stable disease Single nucleotide polymorphism
S- sc SD SNP T/C	Serum Subcutaneous Stable disease Single nucleotide polymorphism Telomere/Centromere
S- sc SD SNP T/C VAF	Serum Subcutaneous Stable disease Single nucleotide polymorphism Telomere/Centromere Variant allele frequency
S- sc SD SNP T/C VAF VEN	Serum Subcutaneous Stable disease Single nucleotide polymorphism Telomere/Centromere Variant allele frequency Venetoclax
S- sc SD SNP T/C VAF VEN VOR	Serum Subcutaneous Stable disease Single nucleotide polymorphism Telomere/Centromere Variant allele frequency Venetoclax
S- sc SD SNP T/C VAF VEN VOR VPA	Serum Subcutaneous Stable disease Single nucleotide polymorphism Telomere/Centromere Variant allele frequency Venetoclax Vorinostat
S- sc SD SNP T/C VAF VEN VOR VPA WHO	Serum Subcutaneous Stable disease Single nucleotide polymorphism Telomere/Centromere Variant allele frequency Venetoclax Vorinostat Valproic acid World Health Organization
S- sc SD SNP T/C VAF VEN VOR VPA WHO WPSS	Serum Subcutaneous Stable disease Single nucleotide polymorphism Telomere/Centromere Variant allele frequency Venetoclax Vorinostat Vorinostat

Myelodysplastic syndromes

During the second part of the 19th century, hematologists discussed their observations of certain patients with acute non-lymphocytic leukemia who had a variety of already-present hematological aberrations; these were often older patients with anemia, evolving during a period of months to years before developing into acute leukemia. In 1982, the group of French, American, and British researchers that had previously established the French-American-British (FAB) classification system for acute leukemia presented myelodysplastic syndrome (MDS) to describe the group of syndromes as a new disease entity(1).

Since then, MDS has been well-established as a disease entity describing a heterogeneous group of malignant hematopoietic stem-cell disorders that present with various grades of peripheral blood cytopenia (due to ineffective hematopoiesis), dysplastic bone-marrow changes, an impendent risk of developing acute myeloid leukemia (AML), and reduced survival(2-4). The international incidence of MDS is reported to be 3-5 per 100,000 in the general population(5). The incidence of MDS in Sweden is estimated at 3.8/100,000 among males and 2.3/100,000 among females, based on the Swedish MDS registry during 2013-2022(6). The data shows that the median age at diagnosis is 76 years, and there is an increasing incidence with age, such that only 27% of patients are under 60 years of age. The actual incidence of MDS may be underestimated due to underreporting to MDS registries(7).

Diagnostics

MDS leads to various grades of peripheral blood cytopenias and the cytopenias should be lasting for at least 2-4 months(3, 8), to exclude other possible causes of cytopenias. According to the World Health Organization (WHO)'s 2016 classification of myeloid malignancies, a valid cytopenia is defined as Hemoglobin (Hb) <10 g/dL, absolute neutrophile counts (ANC) <1.8 x10⁹/L, or platelet counts (PLT) <100 x $10^{9}/L$ (Table 1). It has been observed that MDS may occur in cases of milder anemia (Hb<13 g/dL (males), 12 g/dL (females), or thrombocytopenia ($<150 \times 10^{9}/L$)), together with morphologic changes(8), and this threshold for clonal cytopenias is used in WHO's 5th classification(4) as well as in International Consensus Classification (ICC)(3). The slightly milder grade of cytopenias, may be useful in detecting some early MDS patients; however, it may not be a clinical meaningful cut-off, as the majority cause of cytopenia will be diseases other than hematological malignancies(9).

Name	Dysplastic lineages	Cytopenias*	Ring sideroblasts as % of marrow erythroid elements	BM and PB blasts	Cytogenetics by conventional karyotype analysis
MDS with single lineage dysplasia (MDS-SLD)	1	1 or 2	<15%/<5%†	BM <5%, PB <1%, no Auer rods	Any, unless fulfills all criteria for MDS with isolated del(5q)
MDS with multilineage dysplasia (MDS-MLD)	2 or 3	1-3	<15%/<5%†	BM <5%, PB <1%, no Auer rods	Any, unless fulfills all criteria for MDS with isolated del(5q)
MDS with ring sideroblasts (MDS-RS)					
MDS-RS with single lineage dysplasia (MDS-RS-SLD)	1	1 or 2	≥15%/≥5%†	BM <5%, PB <1%, no Auer rods	Any, unless fulfills all criteria for MDS with isolated del(5q)
MDS-RS with multilineage dysplasia (MDS-RS-MLD)	2 or 3	1-3	≥15%/≥5%†	BM <5%, PB <1%, no Auer rods	Any, unless fulfills all criteria for MDS with isolated del(5q)
MDS with isolated del(5q)	1-3	1-2	None or any	BM <5%, PB <1%, no Auer rods	del(5q) alone or with 1 additional abnormality except -7 or del (7g)
MDS with excess blasts (MDS-EB)					
MDS-EB-1	0-3	1-3	None or any	BM 5%-9% or PB 2%-4%, no Auer rods	Any
MDS-EB-2	0-3	1-3	None or any	BM 10%-19% or PB 5%-19% or Auer rods	Any
MDS, unclassifiable (MDS-U)					
with 1% blood blasts	1-3	1-3	None or any	BM <5%, PB = 1%,‡ no Auer rods	Any
with single lineage dysplasia and pancytopenia	1	3	None or any	BM <5%, PB <1%, no Auer rods	Any
based on defining cytogenetic abnormality	0	1-3	<15%§	BM <5%, PB <1%, no Auer rods	MDS-defining abnormality
Refractory cytopenia of childhood	1-3	1-3	None	BM <5%, PB <2%	Any

*Cytopenias defined as: hemoglobin, <10 g/dL; platelet count, <100 x 10⁹/L; and absolute neutrophil count, <1.8 x 10⁹/L. Rarely, MDS may present with mild anemia or ombocytopenia above these levels. PB monocytes must be $< 1 \times 10^9$ /L

tlf SF3B1 mutation is present. ‡One percent PB blasts must be recorded on at least 2 separate occasions.

\$Cases with ≥15% ring sideroblasts by definition have significant envthroid dysplasia, and are classified as MDS-RS-SLD.

Table 1. Peripheral blood and bone marrow findings and cytogenetics of MDS. Adapted from Arber et al. 2016(2).

Morphological examinations

In MDS, the cytopenias are accompanied with morphological changes, with dysplasia in $\geq 10\%$ of cells in at least one myeloid lineage(2-4, 10). Regarding megakaryocytes, a threshold of $\geq 10\%$ of cells is adequate in case of typical micro-megakaryocytes, while other dysplastic megakaryocytes may require a higher frequency $\geq 30\%(11)$. A bone marrow biopsy is strongly recommended and gives important information regarding cellularity, bone marrow microarchitecture with cell clusters, megakaryocytopoiesis, and grade of fibrosis(12). Immunohistochemistry (IHC) staining for cluster of differentiation (CD) 34+ blast cells will provide valuable information in diagnosis of MDS(13). In CD34- cells, it is helpful to use IHC staining for KIT/CD117+; thus, IHC staining may include positivity in proerythroblasts and mast cells(14). A strong p53 positive staining may be useful in detection of patients with a *TP53* mutation(15).

Cytogenetics

Approximately 50% of patients with MDS carry a clonal chromosomal aberration(16), and a cytogenetic analysis should be performed on all MDS patients. Cytogenetics provide valuable information for diagnosis and prognosis and can give helpful information in cases with inconclusive morphology(2, 16, 17). Fluorescence *in situ* hybridization (FISH) is a useful tool in cytogenetic analysis and provides information on the size of the aberrant clone(18).

Next-generation sequencing

Since MDS is a clonal disorder, and almost 50% av MDS patients have a normal karyotype, what drives the clonality? Mutations are detected by means of targeted next-generation sequencing (NGS) in nearly 90% of MDS patients(19, 20). It is helpful to know the type of mutation in order to determine the prognosis(19-22); for example, an isolated *SF3B1* mutation is associated with a good prognosis (Figure 1)(23, 24). In WHOs 4th classification of MDS, a *SF3B1* mutation was added to the diagnostic setting of refractory anemia with ring sideroblasts, and the threshold of ring sideroblasts was lowered from



 \geq 15% to \geq 5% in patients with both ring sideroblasts and a *SF3B1* mutation(2).

Figure 1. Frequent mutations in MDS subtypes. Adapted from *Papaemmanuil et al.* 2013(19).

Research experience with risk stratification in association with different mutations has influenced new classifications. Cases of MDS patients with a biallelic *TP53* mutations have been taken into consideration in ICC as well as WHO 5th classification and this combination has now been classified as new entity(3, 4). Many mutations are shared among myeloid neoplasms; and in WHO 5th classification, cases of AML with mutations in *ASXL1*, *BCOR*, *EZH2*, *SF3B1*, *SRSF2*, *STAG2*, *U2AF1*, and *ZRSR2* are strongly associated with MDS or MDS/myeloproliferative neoplasms (MPN), leading to the new classification as "AML, myelodysplasia-related"(25). In addition, a greater number of mutations worsens the prognosis(21, 26, 27).

Risk validation

It is important for clinicians to be able to make a reliable estimation of the prognosis for a MDS patient when deciding therapy options. A reliable prognosis is particular essential for the patient, as it allows the patient to understand the severity of the disease and realize how long the respite will be before disease progression and death. The MDS prognostic systems have developed during the research associated with this thesis. In 1997, Greenberg et al. presented the international scoring system for evaluation of prognosis in MDS (IPSS) based on a study of 816 MDS patients from which prior treatment with intensive chemotherapy and secondary MDS were excluded. The IPSS is based on a synthesis of the number of cytopenias (Hb < 10 g/dL, ANC < 1.5×10^{9} /L, PLT < 100×10^{9} /L), percentages of bone marrow blasts (<5 to < 30%), and type and number of cytogenetic aberrations(28). After evaluating the overall survival (OS) and 25% risk of AML transformation, patients are divided into four risk categories of *low, intermediate (INT)-1, INT-2* or *high* (Table 2). More specifically, these categories are ranked as follows, using the median OS/ risk of AML evolution (Table 2): *low* (5.7/ 9.4 years), *INT-1* (3.5/ 3.3 years), *INT-2* (1.2/ 1.1 years) and *high* (0.2/0.4 years).

Prognostic Variable	Score Value				
	0	0.5	1.0	1.5	2.0
BM blasts (%)	<5	5-10		11-20	21-30
Karyotype*	Good	Intermediate	Poor		
Cytopenias	0/1	2/3			

Scores for risk groups are as follows: Low, 0; INT-1, 0.5-1.0; INT-2, 1.5-2.0; and High, ≥2.5.

 Good, normal, -Y, del(5q), del(20q); Poor, complex (>3 abnormalities) or chromosome 7 anomalies; Intermediate, other abnormalities.

Table 2. IPSS for MDS: Survival and AML Evolution. Adapted from Greenberg etal. 1997(28).

In 2012, Greenberg et al. presented a revised IPSS, denoted as the IPSS-R, based on a study of 7012 MDS-patients(8). Rather than the four categories in the IPSS, the IPSS-R divides patients into five risk categories: *very good, good, intermediate, poor* and *very poor*. The depth of cytopenias is taken into consideration in the IPSS-R, while the blast counts are viewed as less important; moreover, the bone marrow blasts are separated from the original < 5% into 0-2% and >2-<5%, and equal value is given to blasts within 10-30%. In addition, more attention is paid to cytogenetic aberrations, which are increased from six

15

specific aberrations to 16. Additional factors are added for predicting OS: significant but in low grade regarding β_2 -microglobulin, lactate dehydrogenase (LDH), serum (S)-ferritin and performance status, and in higher grade, patients age. The IPSS-R different categories are described for a patient with an age of 70 years. The IPSS, the WHO Classification-based Prognostic Scoring System (WPSS), and the IPSS-R have been validated in a study of 1329 patients from the Swedish MDS register (during 2009–2013)(29). No large differences between the scoring systems were observed, although the IPSS-R was significantly superior to the IPSS and WPSS in predicting OS in patients \leq 70 years. Patients age, gender (where the risk is lower in females), LDH, bone marrow fibrosis, and type of MDS (i.e. having undergone therapy vs. *de novo* MDS) were added to the IPSS-R as risk factors.

There has been an increasing number of studies regarding the effect on mutational status on outcome, leading to the development of new scoring system that takes mutational status into consideration. Bernard et al. presented the molecular IPSS (IPSS-M)(30), based on a study in which 72 patients from the Nordic MDS Group (NMDSG10B) study constituted 2,4% of a total of 2957 patients. The IPSS-M is further development of the IPSS-R combined with 152 specific gene mutations and a total of 31 mutations for risk stratification of the MDS-patient. Unlike the earlier IPSS and IPSS-R, the IPSS-M is useful in both primary and secondary/ therapy-related MDS patients. The IPSS-M divides patients into six different risk categories of AML transformation and OS: very low, low, moderate low, moderate high, high and very high (Figure 2). An assessment of different mutations may lead to a more clonal and personalized model for establishing a prognosis. An interesting pattern is observed when time-dependent erythrocyte transfusion dependency (E-TD) data are added to IPSS-M. In a study of 677 Swedish MDS patients, originated from the IPSS-M cohort, (E-TD) significantly adds risk in terms of shorter OS independently of IPSS-M(31).



Figure 2. IPSS-M risk score and risk categories. Adapted from *Bernard et al.* 2022(30). Reproduced with permission from (scientific reference citation), Copyright Massachusetts Medical Society

A more convenient method that is used in everyday practice is to divide MDS patients into lower- or higher-risk categories, where *lower-risk* compromises the IPSS categories of low and INT-1; the IPSS-R categories of very low, low and INT with a risk score \leq 3.5; and the IPSS-M categories of very low, low and moderate low. In the same way, *higher-risk* comprises the IPSS categories of INT-2 and high; the IPSS-R categories of INT with a risk score >3.5, high, and very high; and the IPSS-M categories of moderate high, high and very high(32, 33).

Other prognostic scoring systems are also used for MDS patients. The WPSS is based on a study of 1165 *de novo* MDS patients, excluding patients with MDS unclassified, chronic myelomonocytic leukemia (CMML) and $\geq 20\%$ bone marrow blasts. It combines the WHO's 4th classification of MDS subgroups with cytogenetic abnormalities (the same cytogenetic abnormalities as in the IPSS) and regular red blood cell (RBC) transfusions. The WPSS divides patients in five different risk groups regarding survival and risk of AML transformation(34). In the revised WPSS, which is based on a study of 840 MDS patients, the

Clinical and genetic studies of high-risk myelodysplastic syndromes and acute myeloid leukemia with chromosome 5q deletion

17

subjective category of RBC transfusions is shifted to a more persistent category of anemia, under 9.0 g/dL (males) and 8 g/dL (females) in prognostic assessment(35). The WPSS and the IPSS-R scoring systems have an initial high prognostic power, with loss of power over time(32).

Comorbidity is important in judging an individual patient's prognosis. In a study of 1344 MDS patients, Della Porta et al. presented a risk stratification based on MDS disease as well as non-hematologic comorbidities, referred to as the MDS-CI. In this classification, the patient's comorbidity (i.e. cardiac, pulmonary, renal, liver or solid tumors) significantly affects the patient's non-leukemic death and OS without increased blast counts(36). In this study, comorbidity was not found to affect leukemia-free survival.

To summarize, when estimating the status of MDS in order to make a prognosis, the patient's comorbidity, age and performance status should all be taken into account(37).

MDS with deletion 5q

The incidence of deletion 5q (del(5q)) in MDS patients is 10 -15%, making it the most common single chromosomal aberration in MDS(16, 38, 39). MDS with del(5q) is characterized by a female predominance, macrocytic anemia, often thrombocytosis, bone marrow blast counts <5% (no Auer rods), good prognosis, and low risk of transformation to AML(28, 40). The common deleted region is often situated in 5q32(41, 42). In the WHO's 2008 classification, del(5q) is described as an isolated deletion(10). In the WHO's 2016 classification, del(5q) is defined as a single deletion with or without addition of one more abnormality, except monosomy 7 or del(7)(43-45). No changes were added to isolated 5q deletion in the WHO's 5th classification of MDS, nor in the ICC, except for a change in name to "MDS with del(5q)"(3, 4). The del(5q) clone originates from a pluripotent hematopoietic stem cells (CD34+CD38-) and is an early event in MDS pathogenesis(46). After targeting each of the genes in del(5q) common deletion region (CDR), a haploinsufficiency of the gene coding for the RPS14 ribosomal protein mimics the hematologic phenotype of MDS with del(5q)(47).

The immunomodulating drug lenalidomide (Table 3) is known to be an effective therapy for transfusion-dependent lower-risk MDS patients with a del(5q), reducing the transfusion burden (67%) and inducing complete cytogenetic remissions (45%) in patients(48). Lenalidomide induces apoptosis of del(5q) MDS cells by binding to cereblon (CRBN), a part of the Cul4-based E3 ubiquitin ligase. This leads to ubiquitination and degradation of casein kinase 1A1 protein, which is encoded by the haploinsufficient *CSNK1A1*, a tumor suppressor gene located at del(5q) CDR (5q32), a process depending on functioning p53(49-51).

Variable	Continuous Daily Dosing	21-Day Dosing	All Patients
Frythroid response — no. (%)	(14-102)	(14-40)	(14-140)
Transfusion independence	71 (70)	28 (61)	99 (67)
95% CI	/1 (/0)	20 (01)	59-74
≥50% decrease in no. of transfusions	8 (8)	5 (11)	13 (9)
95% CI	- (-)		5-15
Total transfusion response	79 (77)	33 (72)	112 (76)
95% CI			68-82
Time to response — wk			
Median	4.7	4.3	4.6
Range	1-34	1-49	1-49
Hemoglobin — g/dl			
Baseline†			
Median	7.7	8.0	7.8
Range	5.3-10.4	5.6-10.3	5.3-10.4
Response‡			
Median	13.4	13.5	13.4
Range	9.2-18.6	9.3-16.9	9.2-18.6
Increase			
Median	5.4	5.4	5.4
Range	2.2-11.4	1.1–9.1	1.1-11.4

* The daily dose was 10 mg.

† The baseline hemoglobin concentration was the minimum value during the baseline period.

The response hemoglobin concentration was the maximum value during the transfusion-independent response period.

Table 3. Erythroid response to lenalidomide. Adapted from *List et al.* 2006(48). Reproduced with permission from (scientific reference citation), Copyright Massachusetts Medical Society.

The *TP53* mutation - Shifting the deletion of 5q from *good* to *very poor* prognosis

In MDS with del(5q) with good prognosis, the CDR is commonly situated in a distal region, 5q32-33(41, 42). In higher-risk MDS and AML with del(5q), the CDR is situated in a more proximal region 5q31(52). Patients often exhibit a larger deletion, including both regions, and a single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP)-array-based karyotype, which has led to the discovery that patients with a del(5q) involving a centromere and telomere had a more aggressive disease and that includes other additional chromosome aberrations. Patients with extended deletions had a poorer prognosis and associated with del(17p)(53, 54). It is well known that a del(17p) gives rise to a *TP53* mutation(21, 55). About 10% of MDS patients shows a complex karyotype (CK), often involving chromosome abnormalities of 5/5q, 7/7q and 17/17p (Figure 3)(19, 56, 57).



Figure 3. Commonly deletion region and association with different myeloid malignancies. Adapted from *Jerez et al.* 2012(53).

The use of lenalidomide treatment in MDS with del(5q) is a doubleedged sword. A new or pre-existing *TP53* clone that has evolved under the pressure of lenalidomide therapy can lead to treatment failure, AML transformation, and a worse outcome(58-61). *TP53* mutations have been shown to have a worse outcome, irrespectively of CDR(54). Higher-risk MDS or AML patients with a CK demonstrates a high frequency of *TP53* mutation(21), especially patients with the most common recurrent cytogenetic aberrations of deletion in 5q, 7q and 17p(57, 62, 63). A *TP53* mutation was observed in 19% of single del(5q) and 72% of patients with CK and monosomy 5 or del(5q)(64). In 2010, Jasek et al. study of higher-risk MDS and secondary AML patients with a CK including del(5q) and del(7q), noticed a strong association of copy neutral loss of heterozygosity (cnLOH) of 17p, leading to a hemi- or homozygous *TP53* mutations(63). In chromothripsis, a reshuffling of chromosomal material leads to a broad chromosomal rearrangement that is associated with *TP53* mutations in AML(65).

Patients with a CK have a poor prognosis, due to the association with *TP53* mutation(57). *TP53* mutated MDS patients presenting a multihit *TP53* lesion, involving a del(17p)(22%), cnLOH (21%) or multiple mutations(24%), have an independently poor prognosis, while those with a mono-allelic status have similar outcome to those with *TP53* wildtype (WT)(66). The poor prognosis among multi-hit *TP53* patients is irrespective of whether the disease is classified as MDS or AML(67), or a therapy-related disease(68).

Strong nuclear staining of p53 by immunohistochemistry is a useful tool as a marker of *TP53* mutation, and the presence of p53 among MDS patients indicates an increased risk of leukemic transformation(15).

AML and high-risk MDS —The same disease with different blast counts?

Is it important to differ higher-risk MDS and AML with 20-29% blasts or is it just a dead end, precluding patients from new treatment options? In 1999, the WHO revised its classification, lowering the threshold of blast percentages between high-risk MDS and AML from 30% to 20% blasts; moreover, refractory anemia with excess blasts in transformation (RAEB-T) no longer had any validity(69). The diagnosis of patients with borderline blast percentages is challenging; in morphologic diagnosis, a difference of 12% between referral and tertiary center was observed(70). Patients with 20-29% marrow blasts showed more similarities with RAEB than AML with >30% blast counts and patients were older, had a lower median white blood count, an adverse karyotype and the same outcome(71, 72). In younger patients, treatment with intensive chemotherapy led to the same outcomes, despite blast percentages and in older patients, patients with 20-29% had the same outcome as those with <20% but better outcome than patients with AML >30% blasts(72).

Patients with higher-risk MDS and AML with 20-29% blasts share the same genetic profiles. These two patient groups present similar mutations in the genes regulating RNA splicing (SF3B1, SRSF2, U2AF1 and ZRSR2), chromatin (ASXL1, BCOR, EZH2, MLL, PHF6 and STAG2), DNA methylation-related genes (DNMT3A and TET2), or transcription (RUNX1)(19, 20, 25, 26). Patients with MDS and a TP53 mutation were not found to acquire additional mutations at disease progression(25). Grob et al. studied 2200 TP53 mutated AML and MDS patients with excess blasts (MDS-EB) and reported a poor outcome, as expected, with no differences in outcome being observed among MDS or AML patients(67). Among both AML and MDS-EB patients, 84% had a CK, often including -5/5q. A single del(5q) was the only cytogenetic abnormality found to be significantly more frequent in MDS-EB versus AML (P=0.025)(67). TP53 mutations were significantly more common in MDS and AML patients with a CK, regardless of blast counts, and was found to be associated with adverse outcome(68).

In the 2008 and 2016 WHO classifications of myeloid neoplasms and acute leukemia, the threshold of blast percentages remains at 20%(2, 10). In the ICC from 2022, Arber *et al.* concluded that there was a biological continuum of MDS and AML and suggested a new classification for patients (\geq 18 years) who have a blast percentage of 10-19% and whose status is defined as MDS/AML with myelodysplasia-related changes or MDS/AML with myelodysplasia-related cytogenetic abnormalities. The prior category of "AML with myelodysplasia-related cytogenetic abnormalities" and "AML with myelodysplasia-related cytogenetic abnormalities" and "AML with myelodysplasia-related gene mutations" (*ASXL1, BCOR, EZH2, RUNX1, SFRB1, SRSF2, STAG2, USAF1* or *ZRSR2*). Patients with a *TP53* mutation are categorized as separate entity: MDS/AML and AML with mutated *TP53*(3).

In the 5th edition of the WHO classification of myeloid neoplasms, also published 2022 by Khoury *et al*, the 20% threshold remaines, even though the boundary between MDS and AML has been softened(4); it is now argued that MDS in patients with increased blasts (MDS-IB2) of 10-19% in bone marrow or 5-19% in peripheral blood (no Auer rods) can be viewed as an AML equivalent, with the intention of making it possible to include these patients in clinical trials and treatment. In addition, a new category has been defined for MDS patients with a multi-hit *TP53*, which is now categorized as MDS with biallelic *TP53* inactivation.

MDS in the light of an aging population

MDS and AML are clonal hematopoietic diseases with increased incidence in an aging population(7). Clonal hematopoiesis (CH) may foreshadow myeloid neoplasms and may also rise in prevalence with increasing age (Figure 4)(73).



Figure 4. Prevalence of Somatic Mutations, According to Age. Adapted from *Jaiswal et al.* 2014(73). Reproduced with permission from (scientific reference citation), Copyright Massachusetts Medical Society.

Clinical and genetic studies of high-risk myelodysplastic syndromes and acute myeloid leukemia with chromosome 5q deletion

The pre-malignant condition, clonal hematopoiesis of indeterminate potential (CHIP), is defined as the occurrence of a somatic mutation in a driver gene associated with a myeloid malignancy (VAF $\geq 2\%$) without signs of unexplained cytopenia or absence of myeloid neoplasm(3, 4, 74). However, clonality appears without hematological diseases in the natural aging population, and the majority will never develop MDS or AML. In a study of 12380 Swedes with no known hematological neoplasm, the whole-exome sequencing of DNA from peripheral blood was analyzed, and participants' medical condition were followed for 2-7 years afterward(75). A clonal hematopoiesis was noticed in 10% of the study population >65 years of age, indicating an increased risk of expansion to a hematological malignancy (Figure 5). A clonal hematopoiesis may also indicate an increased risk of non-hematological diseases, such as cardiovascular diseases(76). Under the pressure of chemotherapy, the existence of a small hematopoietic clone, such as a small TP53 mutation, may imply an increased risk of developing therapy-resistant MDS or AML(77); in turn, this may indicate the role of extrinsic factors in accelerating the clonal evolution. Different risk scores for CHIP evaluation are published but it still remains a lot of research in this field (78).



Figure 5. Progression from clonal hematopoiesis to a myeloid malignancy. Adapted from *Genovese et al.* 2014(75). Reproduced with permission from (scientific reference citation), Copyright Massachusetts Medical Society.

Treatment

Erythropoiesis-stimulating agents

Erythropoiesis-stimulating agents (ESAs) are a first-line treatment for anemia in lower-risk (low, INT-1) MDS patients. ESA treatment leads to a significant reduction in RBC transfusions compared with a placebo(79) and is recommended in the Nordic myelodysplastic guidelines and national guidelines(80, 81). Patients with a transfusion need of >2 units/months and s-erythropoietin (S-EPO) over 100-500 U/L have a decreased probability of response to ESA treatment (82-84). RAEB-2 patients have a lower response rate to ESA treatment(83). A large prospective register-based study of the use of ESA treatment for 1696 patients from 17 different countries in European Union with lower-risk MDS (EUMDS) showed a significant prolonged time to first transfusion in patients receiving ESA before or early after transfusion treatment(85). An updated analysis of 2448 patients in the EUMDS registry showed improvement in patients' OS when exposed to ESA treatment(86). The addition of granulocyte-colony stimulating factor (G-CSF) to ESA treatment may improve erythroid response but does not increase the risk of leukemic transformation(87).

Luspatercept

In a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase III study of lower-risk (very-low, low, INT according to IPSS-R) MDS with ring sideroblasts (MDS-RS) (n=229), RBC-transfusion dependent patients with a lost response to ESA treatment or ESA treatment naive patients with an S-EPO \geq 200 U/L, were treated with luspatercept. Luspatercept is a selective binding recombinant fusions protein that attaches to transforming growth factor β superfamily ligand and decreases the negative effect of the SMAD2-SMAD3 pathway on erythropoiesis. The study showed a modest response of transfusion independence \geq 8 weeks in 38% of the lustpatercept arm versus 18% of the placebo arm(88). Although the drug may reduce transfusion dependency, it is too expensive for use in Sweden, according to the New Therapies Council.

Immunosuppressive therapy

One treatment alternative of lower-risk MDS, especially in younger patients with a hypocellular bone marrow without high-risk genetics, is the use of immunosuppressive therapies. An example is treatment with anti-thymoglobulin, whether on its own or in combinations, although it is often in combination with cyclosporin A. Immunosuppressive therapy may reduce the RBC transfusion burden in one-third of treated patients(89, 90).

Chemotherapy

A complete response (CR) after AML-like intensive chemotherapies is achieved in between 40-60% of patients with higher-risk MDS or AML with 20-30% blasts. However, CR is less common in patients with a high-risk karyotype, as the hematological toxicity is high with a prolonged hypoplasia, their response duration is short, and few patients obtain any benefit from consolidation treatment. Intensive chemotherapy is not recommended in elderly MDS patients, although induction therapy treatment may be used for young patients with a low-risk karyotype with the possibility of an allogenic hematopoietic stem-cell transplantation (allo-HSCT) donor(91-93).

A low dose of melphalan (2mg/d) is well tolerated and may lead to a modest response (CR of ~30%) in patients with higher-risk MDS or AML with a multilineage dysplasia, with increased benefit observed in patients with hypo- or normocellular bone marrow and a normal karyotype(94, 95).

Hypomethylating agents

In a randomized phase III trial of 233 higher-risk MDS patients, treatment with a low dose of the DNA hypomethylating agent (HMA) decitabine (5-aza-2-deoxycitabine) was compared to best supportive care (BSC); significantly prolonged progression-free survival was observed among patients treated with decitabine, but no significant change to OS was observed(96). In another randomized controlled study of 191 high-risk MDS patients, azacitidine (5-azacitidine) (AZA), also an HMA agent, was compared to BSC. The AZA treatment resulted in a significant reduction in leukemic transformation or in death(97). In the randomized phase III study (AZA-001 trial), higher-risk MDS patients and AML patients with 20-30% blasts were treated with AZA $(75 \text{ mg/m}^2/\text{day for 7 days every 28 days for a minimum 6 cycles, sc})$ or conventional treatments (BSC, low-dose cytarabine (ara-C) or intensive chemotherapy (IC)). AZA prolonged OS by 9 months, 24.5 months versus 15 months(98). The overall response rate (ORR) was significantly higher for AZA compared to BSC or ara-C, but not compared with IC; however, the number of IC-treated patients in the subgroup were low (*n*=42). In a follow-up study of AZA-001, 91% of responding patients reached a response within 6 cycles ((CR), partial remission (PR) or hematologic improvement (HI)). Among the responders, continuous AZA treatment (median 14 cycles) improved the response category (HI to PR or CR) in 48% of patients(99). Patients with a response to AZA treatment (HI, PR or CR) experienced a reduced risk of death compared with patients responding to conventional care regimes(100). In a "real-world" study of AZA treatment among 1101 patients with higher-risk MDS or AML (>20-30% blasts) (Figure 6), patients were treated with AZA for 7 consecutive days, 6 consecutive days or 5-2-2 (5 days, followed by a 2-day weekend break, followed by AZA for 2 days). The median OS was 11.5 months, which was lower than that in the AZA-001 trial, but no differences were observed in response due to dosing schedule(101).



Figure 6. Median OS in a "real-world" study of AZA. Adapted from *Mozessohn et al.* 2018(101).

Lenalidomide in higher-risk MDS and AML treatment

The treatment arsenal of higher-risk myeloid diseases is scanty, making it necessary to find new treatment options. Scientists have hypothesized whether lenalidomide (LEN) could be an effective treatment of high-risk MDS with del(5q), as it is in lower-risk MDS.

In a phase II study of higher-risk MDS patients (n=42) (INT-2, highrisk and RAEB-T) with del(5q) (single del(5q) (19%), +1 additional aberration (23%) or >1 additional aberrations (58%)) treated with LEN (initial dose of 10 mg/day, 21 of 28 days cycle interval), 27% of patients exhibited HI. None of the patients with del(5q) and a CK reached CR(102). The NMDSG phase II study of higher-risk MDS and secondary AML patients with chromosome 5 abnormalities treated with LEN included 28 patients between 2007-2009 who were treated with LEN, with a maximum dose of 30 mg/day. A response was achieved in 35% of patients, but *TP53*-mutated patients responded to a lesser extent, a response of 15% was observed(103). Chen et al, performed another phase II study of high-risk MDS and refractory/relapsed AML patients (n=27) with del(5q) (89% with a CK). Patients were treated with LEN (5-25 mg/day, 21 of 28 days) until disease progression/unacceptable adverse events (AE). Two AML patients had a CR, with or without platelet recovery, and two MDS patients had a stable disease (SD), but no patients with CK responded(104). In another phase II study of LEN treatment in patients with higher-risk MDS or AML (20-29% blats) refractory to HMA treatment, 24 patients were initially treated with a high dose of LEN (50 mg/d, 28 days for 2 cycles). Patients with a response (CR, PR or HI) proceeded for a total of 12 cycles, and 33% had a marrow CR; however, AE where common, and 50% of the patients had a significant infection(105). In a similar phase II study of relapsed/refractory patients (n=27) with higher-risk MDS and AML with trilineage dysplasia, patients were treated with LEN (15-50 mg/day, days 1-28 for a cycle length of 42 days). No patients had an isolated del(5q), 41% had a CK and two patients had a del(5q) as a part of a CK. The study was terminated due to lack of response among patients treated with 15 mg LEN and high grade of toxicity among patients treated with 50 mg LEN(106).

HMA is the first-line treatment for higher-risk MDS; and in Europe, it is the only licensed therapy for this MDS category. Many phase II studies have combined AZA with other therapies, demonstrating a better response compared with historical data of using AZA alone. In a single-center, phase II study, higher-risk MDS and AML patients (n=35) were treated with a combination of AZA (75 mg/m²/ day for 7 days in a 42-day cycle, median 2 cycles) plus LEN (50 mg/day on day 8-28 in each cycle). The patients had previously been treated with immunomodulating agents or HMA. The ORR was 25% among the evaluable patients. The combination was well tolerated, and the median OS for responders versus non-responders was 9.8 and 4.0 months, respectively (HR=0.36, P=0.016)(107). In a multi-center phase II study of LEN and AZA in combination, 32 patients with higherrisk MDS were treated with AZA (75 mg/m²/ day for 5 days with a 28day cycle length) and LEN (10 mg/day, on day 1-21). At inclusion, two patients (6%) had a del(5q). Patients were treated with a median of 5 cycles. The ORR was 72% (CR (42%) and HI (28%)), and median

OS was 13.6 months for the entire cohort, and 37+ months for patients receiving a CR(108). In a multi-center phase II study, 28 patients with higher-risk MDS were treated with AZA (75 mg/m²/day for 5 of 28 days) and LEN (10 mg/day, on days 6-21 of 28 days) induction therapy, followed by 6 months of consolidation with AZA (75 mg/m²/day for 5 of 28 days). Consolidation was then followed by 12 months with maintenance LEN (10 mg/day, 1-21 days). Two patients had del(5q) at inclusion. The ORR was 72% (CR (24%), marrow CR (12%) and HI (36%)), and the median OS was 12 months. Thirteen patients completed induction therapy, and two patients completed maintenance treatment(109).

In a multi-center phase II/III North American Intergroup Study (SWOG S117), 277 higher-risk MDS patients were treated with AZA alone (75 mg/m²/day for 7 or 5-2-2 days of a 28-day cycle) or in combination with either LEN (10 mg/day for 1-21 of 28 days) or vorinostat (VOR) (300 mg x 2/day on days 3-9). The ORR was 38% for AZA, 49% for AZA + LEN (P=0.14) and 27% for AZA + VOR (P=0.16). The median OS was 17 months for the entire cohort, with no significant differences between treatment arms, at 15 months for AZA, 19 months for AZA+LEN, and 17 months for AZA + VOR (Figure 7). Interestingly, regardless of treatment arms, patients with chromosome 5 aberrations had a better ORR (odds ratio, 2.17; P=0.008) than those without, although the OS was worse for patients with a CK including chromosome 5, -7 and 17p. A total of 113 patients had available mutational data, the median number of mutations was two (range, 0-7), and 22 patients had a TP53 mutation, with a worse response duration (P=0.003) and OS(110).



Figure 7. Median OS among patients in randomized phase III study of AZA, AZA + LEN or AZA + VOR. Adapted from *Sekeres et al.* 2017(110).

In a "pick-a-winner" multi-center, randomized, phase II study of 322 patients with higher-risk MDS, CMML or AML (20-30% blasts), patients were treated with AZA alone (75 mg/m²/day for 7 of 28 days) or in combination of either LEN (10 mg/day, day 1-14), valproic acid (VPA) (50 mg/kg/day on days 1-7 each cycle, 35mg/kg/day in patients >60 years), or idarubicin (IDA) (10 mg/m², day 1 of each cycles 1-9) (Figure 8). The patients received a median of 7 cycles of treatment. After 6 cycles of treatment, the ORR was 40% (CR, PR or HI), with no significant difference between the treatment arms, at 42% for AZA, 39% for AZA + LEN, 41% for AZA + VPA, and 38% for AZA+IDA. Median OS for the entire cohort was 19.7 months, with no significant difference in OS between arms (Figure 8). Patients in the combination arms of AZA + LEN and AZA + IDA were hospitalized at a greater extent (P=0.038)(111).



Figure 8. Median OS from a randomized phase III study of AZA, AZA + LEN, AZA + VPA or AZA + IDA. Adapted from *Ades et al.* 2022(111).

Future therapies

The increasing knowledge regarding MDS diagnostics have led to more individualized diagnostics and deeper insight into pathophysiological processes. Is it possible to find new targeted drugs to optimize higher-risk MDS therapy? With the deeper understanding of MDS as a clonal disease, the borderline between MDS and AML is now less distinct, introducing a discussion on whether it is possible to include MDS patients in AML studies or treat patients with 10-30% blast counts with AML regimes(3, 4). This could be a way forward, although a typical MDS patient is older and may experience more side effects from standard therapies. Venetoclax (VEN) is an antiapoptotic protein B-cell leukemia/lymphoma-2 (BCL-2) inhibitor that targets the increased BCL-2 activity in the malignant myeloid clone inducing apoptosis(112, 113). The combination of AZA (75 mg/m²/day, 1-7 days, 28-day cycle, sc or iv) and VEN (400 mg, day 1-28, po) led to a higher CR in comparison with treatment with AZA alone (37% vs. 18%), as well as a longer OS (14.7 vs. 9.6 months). The AZA + VEN combination has been approved for treatment of older AML patients(114). The results from a combined phase 1b/III study of 127 AML patients with poor-risk cytogenetics, with or without a TP53 mutation, who were treated with AZA alone or with AZA + VEN, showed an improved CR rate in the AZA + VEN arm versus the AZA arm (41% vs. 17%). However, remission was short-lasting (6.5 vs. 6.7 months), and the median OS was low (5.2 vs. 4.9 months)(115). In a newly published phase 1b study of safety and efficacy, 107 higher-risk untreated MDS patients were treated with AZA (75 mg/m²/day, for 7 or 5-2-2 days of a 28-day cycle) in combination with VEN (400 mg, 1-14 days every 28 days, po), with treatment being continued as long as it was tolerated or had any benefit. The combination was well tolerated, with Grade 3 or 4 treatment-emergent AE of neutropenia and thrombocytopenia in 49% and 45%, respectively, and with a CR of 30% and a marrow CR of 50.5%(116). Twenty patients (24%) in the study had a TP53 mutation, with a CR in five patients (25%).

Eprenetapopt (APR-246) acts by reinstating the dysfunctional transcriptional p53 activity in order to induce p53 activity to a function more like that of WT(117). In a phase 1b/II study of 55 MDS, MDS/MPN or AML patients with 20-30% blasts and a *TP53* mutation, patients were treated with eprenetapopt and AZA. The treatment was well-tolerated, with a CR among MDS and AML patients of 50% and 36%, respectively(118). In a French phase II single-arm study of 52 MDS and AML patients with a *TP53* mutation treated with eprenetapopt with AZA, the study reported a CR of 47% among MDS and AML patients with 20-30% blasts(119). In both studies, a significant reduction or disappearance of *TP53* variant allele frequency (VAF) was observed in responding patients, 38% and 73%, respectively. Sadly, in a randomized phase III study of *TP53* mutated patients (*n*=154) the results of the outcome was negative and the trial could not show any significant higher CR with the combination of eprenetapot + AZA compared to single AZA, 35% vs. 22% (NCT03745716)(120).

The anti-CD47 monoclonal antibody magrolimab acts as a cancer drug by inhibiting cancer cells overexpressed antiphagocytic signaling. In a phase 1b study of higher-risk, previously untreated MDS patients (n=95) (62% with poor-risk karyotype and a *TP53* mutation in about ~1/4 of patients), the patients were treated with a combination of AZA and magrolimab. The treatment was well-tolerated, with a CR of 33% for the whole cohort and a CR of 40% among the *TP53* mutated patients(121). In a follow-up randomized phase III study of *TP53* mutated, untreated AML patients, the patients were treated with either AZA + VEN versus AZA + magrolimab or 7+3 induction therapy versus AZA + magrolimab. At interim analysis, the primary endpoint of the median OS was lower in AZA + magrolimab groups compared with control groups, and the study was terminated early(122).

Allogeneic hematopoietic stem-cell transplantation

Allo-HSCT is the only curative treatment for eligible MDS patients (Figure 9), with a 5-year OS for approximately 40% of patients (Figure 9)(123).



Figure 9. Overall survival after allo-HSCT by conditioning intensity, MAC, myeloablative conditioning; RIC, reduced-intensity conditioning; FT, fludarabine and treosulfan. Adapted from *Shimoni et al.* 2021(123).

The vast majority of MDS patients are older, and it is important to take a patient's biological age and comorbidity into consideration in order to optimize long-term survival and non-relapse mortality after allo-HSCT(124). A monosomal karyotype and a high or very high IPSS-R category worsen the OS and increase the risk of relapse(125). If a human leukocyte antigen-matched donor is available, allo-HSCT could be an option in the treatment of MDS patients with higher-risk disease(126). In lower-risk MDS, allo-HSCT may be taken in consideration for fit patients with an extensive transfusion burden, severe cytopenia, high-risk genetics, and no response to non-transplantation therapies(127, 128). It is debated whether patients could benefit from pre-transplant treatment, and, if so, what kind of treatment to use. A common recommendation is to do an upfront allo-HSCT in cases with <10% bone marrow blasts(127). If cytoreductive treatment is indicated as bridging therapy, it is important to take the patient's age
into consideration in order to reduce side-effects prior to transplant. With the aim of reducing pre-transplant toxicity, HMA is used as an alternative to intensive cytoreductive treatment, as it has less toxicity and yields the same outcome after transplantation(129, 130). A reduced-toxicity regime with fludarabine/treosulfan can be an interesting treatment option in MDS and is associated with low relapse rate and improved OS compared with myoablative conditioning or reduced-intensity regimes(123). By optimizing which patients to treat and what conditioning regimes to use, the 3-year OS can be increase to 67% in selected cases(131).



Figure 10. Overall survival among *TP53* mutated patients with complex karyotype compared to *TP53* mutated patients with noncomplex karyotype, treated with allo-HSCT. Adapted from *Bejar et al.* 2014(132).

Is allo-HSCT a therapy alternative even in *TP53*-mutated patients? A *TP53* mutation is associated with an unfavorable outcome after allo-HSCT(132, 133); when this is combined with CK, the outcome is even poorer regarding OS and earlier relapse (Figure 10). In the literatude, >80% of the patients with both a *TP53* mutation and CK died within 2 years; of these, 60% of deaths were due to relapse(132, 134). In a study on the size of the mutational clone among AZA-treated

Clinical and genetic studies of high-risk myelodysplastic syndromes and acute myeloid leukemia with chromosome 5q deletion

patients, those patients with a multi-hit *TP53* mutation responded to HMA treatment, but the response was short. A subset of 13 patients with multi-hit *TP53* mutation underwent allo-HSCT, with a median OS of 19 months. Six patients were still alive after 2-years, including all patients (*n*=4) in which the *TP53* clone size decreased with a VAF <10%(135). However, Versluis et al. could not confirm this observation. The 3-year OS was similar among patients (*n*=17) with *TP53* VAF <2% pre-HSCT versus patients (*n*=18) with VAF ≥2% pre-HSCT. The study showed a better OS in *TP53*-mutated patients treated with allo-HSCT compared with those without allo-HSCT (3-years OS 23% ± 7% vs. 11% ± 7%, *P*=0.04), but the benefit of allo-HSCT treatment in *TP53*-mutated patient was modest(136).

In a prospective observational study, Tobiasson el al. investigated the usege of monitoring patient-specific mutations of measurable residual disease (MRD) by NGS and the digital droplet polymerase chain reaction (ddPCR) technique before allo-HSCT and following MRD post-transplant. A total of 266 patients were included; of these, it was possible to follow MRD in 221 patients. The estimated 3-years OS was 64% for the whole cohort; among the patients with MRD positivity at relapse (n=42), the MRD was positive at a median of 71 (range, 23-283) days before a clinical relapse. In a multivariate analysis, MRD positivity alone was associated with shorter OS and was found to lead to an early detection of relapse(137). The use of an individualized MRD may lead to an earlier detection of relapse, optimizing post-HSCT treatment and, by the extension, improving OS.

Aims of the thesis

Paper I

To study the efficacy and safety of azacitidine with or without the addition of lenalidomide in high-risk MDS (IPSS INT-2 or high) and AML with multilineage dysplasia and 20-30% marrow blasts with a karyotype including del(5q).

To study the biological effects of treatment on the malignant clone.

Paper II

To study the influence of cytogenetics on the treatment response in the study cohort from the clinical trial.

To study if specific cytogenetic findings can predict patient outcome.

Paper III

To optimize diagnostic procedures and follow-up assessment with cytomorphology, bone marrow trephine biopsy and immunohistochemistry in high-risk MDS and AML with 20-30% marrow blasts with a karyotype including del(5q).

Patients and methods

Data sources

Paper I was a prospective, multi-center, open-label, randomized phase II study of patients with higher-risk MDS (IPSS INT-2 and high) and AML with multilineage dysplasia and 20-29% marrow blasts (former RAEB-T) with a karyotype including del(5q). Refractory and relapsed patient could be included if the fulfilled the inclusion criteria. Patients ≥18 years of age were included. Women of childbearing potential must have had a negative pregnancy test prior starting LEN, using adequate contraceptive methods during LEN treatment. Males had to use barrier contraceptive with women of childbearing potential while on LEN treatment and 28 days after the last dose of LEN. Patient had to signed informed consent. Patients exclusion criteria were; eligible for upfront allo-HSCT without prior induction chemotherapy or AZA, pregnancy or lactating females, prior therapy with > 1 cycle of AZA, prior therapy with LEN, expected survival less than 2 months, acute promyelocytic leukemia, central nervous system leukemia, serum creatinine >2.0 mg/dL, serum aminotransferase >3.0 x upper limit of normal or serum total bilirubin >1.5 mg/dL, prior allergic reaction to thalidomide or uncontrolled systemic infection. Prior therapy with AZA was not allowed.

During the first 23 months of the study, five of 32 patients, who were subject to screening, increased their blast counts to \geq 30% between the local and the subsequent screening bone marrow sample and were thus not eligible for the study. This was a problem since primary hospitals were invited to identify these rare patients and refer them to a study center. We experienced that the study cohort had a more progressive nature than higher-risk MDS patients in general. An amendment was therefore approved, allowing one cycle of AZA between the diagnostic and the screening bone marrow sample. Prior treatment with one cycle of AZA was allowed after contact with study center, in those patients where the physician determined that the patient needed treatment before randomization process was completed. This AZA treatment cycle was not counted as one of the six cycles in the study protocol.

Eligible patients from Sweden, Denmark, Norway and Finland were included in the study. The estimated inclusion rate, for the Nordic countries, was approximately 10 patients/year. The initial plan to increase inclusion rate, was to include a patient cohort from hematological center in Leeds, Great Britain. However, it was not doable, due to the higher cost per patient of inclusion in Great Britain. The reason was caused by a higher cost for National Pharmaceutical Insurance compared to the Nordic countries.

In the end, 22 centers, from different university- or county hospitals in Sweden, Denmark, Norway and Finland, participated in the study. University hospitals are normally those centers involved in treatment of patients with higher-risk myeloid diseases. This was a factor to increase the probability of finding eligible patients for the study. Ninety-one patients from 13 different centers in the Nordic countries, were assessed eligible for the study and were screened during March 2012 and January 2017. Seventy-two patients were included in the study and 19 patients were excluded due to high blast counts (\geq 30%) in eight patients, no detectable del(5q) in six patients, centrally revised IPSS score INT-1 in two patients, clinical judgement due to rapid disease progression in two patients and one patient withdrew consent.

The study-cohort in **Paper II** and **Paper III** consists of the same 72 patients that were included in **Paper I**.

Methodological considerations

The hypomethylating agent AZA is first-line treatment in higher-risk MDS, and in Europe the only licensed therapy for this MDS category. LEN is an effective therapy for lower-risk MDS with del(5q) with cytogenetic remission induced in about 45% of patients(48). LEN selectively induces apoptosis of del(5q) MDS cells through ubiquitination of *CSNK1A1*, located on chromosome 5(49, 50). Del(5q) is an early genetic event in patients with combinations of other chromosomal aberrations(46). Between 2007 and 2009 NMDSG performed a phase II study treating 28 patients with higher-risk MDS and secondary AML with chromosome 5 abnormalities with LEN as monotherapy, showing therapeutic response in 35% of patients(103). The rational of

41

the study was to investigate if the combination of drugs, with different mechanisms of action, could improve the outcome of del(5q) myeloid malignancies.

Patients in **Paper I** were centrally randomized in blocks, generated with the use of www.randomization.com in a 1:1 ratio, to AZA or AZA + LEN.

Patients were treated with AZA 5-2-2 (75mg/m²/day, *sc*, for 5 days, followed by a 2-day weekend break, followed by 2 days of treatment, 28-day cycle length, for 6 cycles). A prolongation of cycle interval, to a maximum of 8 weeks, was allowed due to hematologic toxicity (neutropenia and/or thrombocytopenia) according to predefine criteria. A bone marrow examination was done in cases with persistent cytopenia after 6 weeks, to differentiate bone marrow hypoplasia due to treatment from disease progression.

Two dose levels of LEN were used in the study. The initial dose of LEN was 10 mg, po, day 1-21 in each cycle. The dose was escalated to 25 mg, in cycle 4, if no toxicity occurred leading to a prolonged AZA cycle interval for more than 5 weeks. Patients were treated for a total of 24 weeks + additional weeks caused by prolonged cycle intervals. Dose modification of LEN was performed due to hematological toxicity (neutropenia and/or thrombocytopenia). The dose of LEN was interrupted if toxicity occurred during day 1-21, and if a recovery occurred before day 21 the dose of LEN was resumed to the same dose level if the patient was on 10 mg or lowered to 10 mg if the patient was on 25 mg. At resumption of LEN treatment during day 1-21, the patient proceeded to day 21 without addition of extra days of LEN treatment. If no recovery occurred the cycle interval of AZA was prolonged to a maximum of 8 weeks. A bone marrow sample was taken in cases with persistent cytopenia after 6 weeks.

Celgene Corporation provided LEN capsules during the treatment. The study drug was sent to a central pharmacy, responsible for the distribution of LEN to the study-centers. LEN was supplied in individual and labeled bottles containing 21 days of dosing. LEN was stored at the study center in a locked room at room temperature. Unused medication was returned to the pharmacy for destruction. AZA was supplied as a commercial drug.

Peripheral blood samples for effect evaluation of Hb, white blood cell count, a differential, ANC and PLT, were taken weekly. The number of blood product transfusions were registered.

Responding patients, eligible for allo-HSCT treatment, could leave the study after cycle 3, 4 or 5 and in that case be subject for final assessment.

It was allowed to use G-CSF, in doses according to investigators judgement, to patients with neutropenia and an infection or if ANC <0.5 x 10⁹/L, this to keep ANC \geq 0.5 x 10⁹/L. Prophylactic medication were used according to local routines. ESA treatment was not allowed during the study. Treatment with steroids was not allowed during the study, except for treatment of inflammatory disorder with prednisolone \leq 25 mg, po. All concomitant medication was recorded.

The primary endpoint was response according to International Working Group (IWG) criteria, 2006, for MDS (Table 4 and Table 5)(138). Response evaluation was performed during the first week after six cycles of AZA or AZA + LEN, or at end of treatment if it occurred at an earlier time point. Patients were followed once yearly from start of treatment for 3 years, follow-up included survival, AML transformation, MDS specific treatment and secondary primary malignancies. Response was assessed by two independent observers.

Secondary endpoints in **paper I** were safety, AZA cycle intervals between groups, mutational status, relapse and survival from time of randomization to death. Responding patient were allowed to continue with AZA after cycle six, according to standard practice.

43

Hematologic improvement*	Response criteria (responses must last at least 8 wk)†
Erythroid response (pretreatment, < 11 g/dL)	Hgb increase by \approx 1.5 g/dL
	Relevant reduction of units of RBC transfusions by an absolute number of at least 4 RBC transfusions/8 wk compared
	with the pretreatment transfusion number in the previous 8 wk. Only RBC transfusions given for a Hgb of \leq 9.0 g/dL pretreatment will count in the RBC transfusion response evaluation †
Platelet response (pretreatment, < 100 × 10%L)	Absolute increase of $\simeq 30 \times 10^{9}$ L for patients starting with $> 20 \times 10^{9}$ L platelets
	Increase from $< 20 \times 10^{9}$ /L to $> 20 \times 10^{9}$ /L and by at least 100% f
Neutrophil response (pretreatment, < 1.0 × 10 ⁹ /L)	At least 100% increase and an absolute increase > 0.5 × 10 ⁹ /L‡
Progression or relapse after HI‡	At least 1 of the following:
	At least 50% decrement from maximum response levels in granulocytes or platelets
	Reduction in Hgb by ≥ 1.5 g/dL
	Transfusion dependence

Deletions to the IWG response criteria are not shown.

To convert hemoglobin levels from grams per deciliter to grams per liter, multiply grams per deciliter by 10.

Hgb indicates hemoglobin; RBC: red blood cell; HI: hematologic improvement.

*Pretreatment counts averages of at least 2 measurements (not influenced by transfusions) ≥ 1 week apart (modification).

†Modification to IWG response criteria.

11n the absence of another explanation, such as acute infection, repeated courses of chemotherapy (modification), gastrointestinal bleeding, hemolysis, and so forth. It is recommended that the 2 kinds of erythroid and platelet responses be reported overall as well as by the individual response pattern.

Table 4. Hematologic improvement according to IWG 2006 for MDS. Adapted from *Cheson et al.* 2006(138).

Category	Response criteria (responses must last at least 4 wk)
Complete remission	Bone marrow: ≤ 5% myeloblasts with normal maturation of all cell lines* Persistent dysplasia will be noted*† Peripheral blood‡
	Hgb ≥ 11 g/dL Platelets ≥ 100 × 10%L Neutrophils ≥ 1.0 × 10%L† Blasts 0%
Partial remission	All CR criteria if abnormal before treatment except: Bone marrow blasts decreased by \approx 50% over pretreatment but still $>$ 5% Cellularity and morphology not relevant
Marrow CR†	Bone marrow: ≤ 5% myeloblasta and decrease by ≥ 50% over pretreatment† Peripheral blood: If HI responses, they will be noted in addition to marrow CR†
Stable disease	Failure to achieve at least PR, but no evidence of progression for > 8 wks
Falure	Death during treatment or disease progression characterized by worsening of cytopenias, increase in percentage of bone marrow blasts, or progression to a more advanced MDS FAB subtype than pretreatment
Relapse after CR or PR	At least 1 of the following: Return to pretreatment bone marrow blast percentage Decrement of \simeq 50% from maximum remission/response levels in granulocytes or platelets Reduction in Hob concentration by \simeq 1.5 oldL or transfusion dependence
Cytogenetic response	Complete Disappearance of the chromosomal abnormality without appearance of new ones Partial At least 50% reduction of the chromosomal abnormality
Disease progression	For patients with: Less than 5% blasts: ≥ 50% increase in blasts to > 5% blasts 5%-10% blasts: ≥ 50% increase to > 10% blasts 10%-20% blasts: ≥ 50% increase to > 20% blasts 20%-30% blasts: ≥ 50% increase to > 30% blasts Any of the following: At least 50% decrement from maximum remission/response in granulocytes or platelets Reduction in Hgb by ≥ 2 gldL Transfusion dependence
Survival	Endpoints: Overall: death from any cause Event free: failure or death from any cause PFS: disease progression or death from MDS DFS: time to relapse Cause-specific death: death related to MDS

Deletions to IWG response criteria are not shown.

To convert hemoglobin from grams per deciliter to grams per liter, multiply grams per deciliter by 10.

MDS indicates myelodysplastic syndromes; Hgb, hemoglobin; CR, complete remission; HI, hematologic improvement; PR, partial remission; FAB, French-American-British; AML, acute myeloid leukernia; PFS, progression-free survival; DFS, disease-free survival.

*Dysplastic changes should consider the normal range of dysplastic changes (modification).⁴¹ †Modification to IWG response criteria.

In some circumstances, protocol therapy may require the initiation of further treatment (eg, consolidation, maintenance) before the 4-week period. Such patients can be included in the response category into which they fit at the time the therapy is started. Transient cytopenias during repeated chemotherapy courses should not be considered as interrupting durability of response, as long as they recover to the improved counts of the previous course.

Table 5. Response criteria according to IWG 2006 for MDS. Adapted fromCheson et al. 2006(138).

Clinical and genetic studies of high-risk myelodysplastic syndromes and acute myeloid leukemia with chromosome 5q deletion

Cytogenetic analysis

Karyotyping

Karyotyping for **paper I, II** and **III** was performed at baseline and at final assessment at week 25. A volume of five ml bone marrow aspirate, in heparin flask were sent to department of Human Genetics, Hannover, starting the analyzing process before lunch the following day. In cases of dry tap the karyotyping was made on peripheral blood. Unstimulated short-term cultures (24-48h) were set up from bone marrow. Chromosome preparation and fluorescence R-banding were performed(139). Twenty metaphases were analyzed when possible and karyotypes were described according to the International System for Chromosome Nomenclature (ISN, 2016). Karyotype without FISH was sufficient to categorize the patient.

Patient with less than 10 metaphases and no clonal aberrations were excluded from the studies.

FISH Analysis

FISH analyses in paper I, II and III were performed at inclusion, after 3 cycles of treatment (week 13) and at final assessment using a dual color probe for the locus 5q31 (Vysis EGR1/5p14 FISH Probe Kit-Abbott, Weisbaden, Germany). At inclusion and final assessment, FISH was prepared on fixed cells prepared for classical banding analysis. In cases with dry tap, FISH analyses were made from bone marrow imprint. FISH at cycle 13 was performed on bone marrow slides. FISH was used to detect the del(5q), especially in cases with a complex karyotype, and as a quantitative method to analyze the clone size. For each sample 200 interphase nuclei were analyzed. The cutoff level for the probe used in the study was evaluated by analyzing 1000 interphase nuclei from 10 healthy donors. The cutoff level for fixed cells was set at 8% and for bone marrow slides 6%. At inclusion, an abnormal clone could be identified by less than 15 metaphases. During follow-up, less than 15 metaphases were adequate if a known clonal aberration was detected again. Less than 15 metaphases without aberrations during follow-up were not sufficient, unless FISH was available and del(5q) was identified in the major clone.

Multicolor FISH

Analysis with multicolor FISH (mFISH) was used to find cryptic aberrations in patients with uncertain cytogenetic aberrations. Metaphases for mFISH analysis were prepared from heparinized bone marrow aspirate. The analysis was carried out using 24XCyte mFISH (Metasystems, Altlussheim, Germany) and analysis was performed according to manufacturer's instructions. The ISIS software was used for analysis (Metasystems, Atlslussheim, Germany). Whenever possible five metaphases were analyzed for each sample.

Telomere/Centromere FISH

For telomere/centromere FISH (T/C-FISH), metaphase preparations from heparinized bone marrow aspirates were made according to standard procedure. Whenever possible, 10 metaphases were examined from each sample after combined karyotyping and T/C-FISH analysis. Telomere PNA FISH Kit (Dako, Glostrup, Denmark) was used for analysis. The centromere probe of chromosome 2 was developed by Dako. For an area of 22x22mm we used 9µL telomere probe and 1 µL centromere probe(140). The ISIS-Telomere module (Metasystems, Altlussheim, Germany was used for analysis(141). The software calculates a T/C value for each individual chromosome arm and the mean value of metaphase was calculated.

For each patient in **paper II** a cohort of five healthy individuals (adapted) (age matched) as control for telomere length measurement.

Cytogenetic Response

In **paper I, II** and **III** cytogenetic response was evaluated with FISH, after three and six cycles and with karyotype after six cycles. A complete cytogenetic response (CCyR) was defined as disappearance of the del(5q) abnormality and any other chromosomal aberrations present at baseline. A partial cytogenetic response (PCyR) was defined as a 50% reduction (vs. baseline) in the number of aberrant cells. Persistent clones or reduction <50% defined a lack of cytogenetic response (NoCyR). Cytogenetic relapse was defined as the reappearance of aberrations or \geq 50% increase in abnormal metaphases after achievement

of a PCyR. Cytogenetic progression was defined as the appearance of previously undetected aberrations in the sense of clonal evolution or development of new independent clones.

Bone marrow analysis

Bone marrow trephines and smears from bone marrow and peripheral blood, **in paper I**, **II** and **III**, were assessed centrally and blinded by an experienced hematopathologist at inclusion and final assessment at department of Clinical Pathology, Division of Hematopathology, Karolinska University Hospital, Solna, Stockholm. Bone marrow samples were classified according to WHO 2008 and re-classified, **in paper III**, according to the revised WHO 2016 classification(2, 10). The percentage of blasts was calculated in bone marrow smears and/or imprints and correlated to the percentage of blasts in biopsies by using CD34+ staining.

Bone marrow histology

Bone marrow cellularity and grade of marrow fibrosis were documented according to European consensus guidelines(142). IHC was performed according to manufacture guidelines including the monoclonal antibodies p53 DO-7, CD43, glucophorin A and CD61 (all Ventana/Roche) using the automated Ventana Bench Mark XT system. The number of CD34+ staining cells was assessed in randomly selected fields based on a total of at least 500 hematopoietic cells (excluding lymphocytes and lymphoid aggregates) at a magnification (40x objective). The presence of CD34+ clusters was documented separately, with a cluster being defined as a group of three or more positive cells as described(12). Sections stained with p53 were assessed for presence of cells with strong p53 nuclear staining.

Cytomorphology

Bone marrow smears and/or biopsy imprints stained with May-Grunewald-Giemsa were assessed for the percentage of blasts and ring sideroblasts and the type and degree of dysplasia. The percentage of blasts was calculated based on a 500-cell count of total bone marrow nucleated cells and a 200-leukocyte differential count in the peripheral blood according to WHO 2016 guidelines(2). Morphological features used for the definition of myeloblasts were those proposed by International Working Group on Morphology of MDS(143).

Next generation sequencing

Mononuclear cells or CD34+ cells from bone marrow and peripheral blood were isolated by using Lymphoprep[™] and genomic DNA was separated from these cells by using GeneElute DNA extraction kit (Sigma Aldrich). Forty-two different genes were analyzed, in Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center, New York, at screening phase (ASXL1, ATRX, BCL10, BCOR, BCORL1, BRAF, CALR, CDKN2A, CDKN2C, CEBPA, CSF1R, CSNK1A1, CTCF, DDX41, DDX54, DNMT3A, EGFR, EP300, EZH2, FLT3, GATA2, GNB1, IDH1, IDH2, JAK2, KMT2C, KRAS, LUC7L2, NF1, NRAS, PHIP, PPM1D, PTPN11, RAD50, ROBO1, RUNX1, SF3B1, SH2B3, SRSF2, TET2, TP53 and U2AF1). Gene mutations, at screening phase as well as TP53 mutational status were analyzed after the end of study by deep targeted sequencing(66). VAF was determined in all samples with a sensitivity of \geq 2%. Following failure of initial sequencing six patients were analyzed by TruSightTM Myeloid Sequencing panel. TruSightTM analyzed 54 different genes (ABL1, ASXL1, ATRX, BCOR, BRORL1, BRAF, CALR, CBL, CBLB, CDKN2A, CEBPA, CBLC, CSF3R, CUX1, DNMT3A, ETV6, EZH2, FBXW7, FLT3, GATA1, GATA2, GNAS, HRAS, IDH1, IDH2, IKZF1, JAK2, JAK3, KDM6A, KIT, KMT2A, KRAS, MPL, MYD88, NPM1, NRAS, NOTCH1, PRGFRA, PTEN, PTPN11, PHF6, RAD21, RUNX1, SMC1A, SETBP1, SF3B1, SMC3, SRSF2, STAG2, TET2, TP53, WT, U2AF1 and ZRSR2). VAF was determined in all samples with a sensitivity of \geq 5%. To evaluate the effect of treatment, cryopreserved separated MNC or CD34+ cells were analyzed by TruSightTM for analyze of the presence of residual disease.

Statistical analyses

The study in **Paper I** was designed to detect an improvement in efficacy of $\geq 20\%$, as defined as $\geq 20\%$ of patients reaching the primary endpoint. We used the Simon Two-Stage Adaptive Design. With an unacceptable response probability $p_0=0,30$, with a $\alpha=0,05$ and power=0,90, the sample size was 35 for each group. In the case, the first stage consisted of 18 patients and if there was up to two responses the trial was terminated; otherwise continued to a total of 35 patients. This scenario implied two cohorts of 35 patients, 70 in total. The randomization process was not stratified by any patient characteristics.

In paper I, II and III were continuous data described by mean and median (range) values depending on the distribution data. X^2 - or Fisher's exact tests were used to measure the difference between responders and non-responders. Continuous variables regarding mutational status, cycle interval, response, clone size of FISH analyses and blast percentages was used univariate analysis by Mann-Whitney *U* test or T-test independent analysis. Comparison of differences in blast percentages and *TP53* VAF% changes were analyzed by paired *t*-test. McNemar's test was used to compare binary data of the detection of del(5q) with classical banding analysis vs. FISH. Survival estimates were calculated by Kaplan-Meier method, and test for differences in survival were done using log-rank test. Survival was calculated from day of randomization to death, censoring date was the date patient was last known to be alive.

Ethical considerations

All three studies, in this thesis, were conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki(144). The studies were approved by National Ethical committees in Sweden, Denmark, Norway and Finland and were approved in Stockholm (2011/1109-31/1), with an amendment (2016/2321-32) regarding transfer and storage of coded biological material to a laboratory in New York, USA, for genetical analyses of bone marrow sampling and the agreement of destruction of the material after analysis and an amendment (2016/2404-32) of a new informed consent, regarding the shipment of biological material, was not deemed necessary, due to the risk of adding emotional stress among relatives to deceased patients in the study.

Paper I was registered at www.clinicaltrials.gov NTC01556477 and received an EudraCT number 2011-001639-21. Patients provided written informed consent and received the information of the participation in the study was completely voluntary and that it would not affect patient-physician relationship. All information related to the patients was handled confidential. The investigators were detailed informed and knew the characteristics of the drugs used in the clinical trial. The clinical study, **paper I**, was performed in accordance with the study protocol and in accordance with Good Clinical Practice, EU-directive (2001/20/EC) and regulatory requirements. All study-patients were covered by respectively countries National Pharmaceutical Insurance Pool. Each patient received a country specific study number and each study site kept a record with a key linking study number ant the patient id.

Biological material from **paper I-III** were stored with study number code at Stockholm biobank 914. Cytogenetic and FISH, **paper I-III**, were analyzed at Hannover Institute of Cell and Molecular Pathology and the material were stored with the study number code. Bone marrow material for morphological analysis, **paper I-III**, were performed at Department of Pathology at Karolinska University Solna and material related to the study were stored with a study specific number in the Karolinska University Hospital biobank (no 406).

Results and discussion

Paper I

Main findings

The median age of the 72 eligible patients was 71.5 years (range, 35-84 years). Fifty-four (75%) were diagnosed with MDS and 18 (25%) with AML. Eleven (15%) received one course of AZA before inclusion. Most of the patients (83%) had a complex karvotype, and 53 patients (76%) had a TP53 mutation, whereof 49 (92%) were multi-hit. Thirtysix patients were randomized to each arm. Thirty-two patients (44%) terminated therapy prior to protocol plan; 15 patients (42%) in the AZA arm and 17 patients (47%) in the AZA + LEN arm (P=0.64). The reasons were encompassed disease progression in 10 patients (6 AZA, 4 AZA + LEN (P=0.50)), adverse events in 18 patients (7 AZA, 11 AZA + LEN (P=0.28)) and subject request in two patients in each arm (Figure 11). Seventeen patients with early termination died (6 AZA, 11 AZA + LEN (P=0.17)). The cause of death was disease progression in eight patients, four in each arm, infection in five patients, one in the AZA arm, four in the AZA + LEN arm (P=0.36), CNS hemorrhage in two cases, one in each arm and heart failure in two patients (P=0.49). The overall rate of infections did not differ between the arms, with one exception, eight patients (22%) in AZA + LEN arm and one patient in AZA arm had an adverse event grade 1 or 2 unspecified infection (P=0.028). Serious adverse events (SAE) were similar in the two treatment arms. One-hundred and eighty-eight SAE's in 54 patients (75%) were reported. The most frequent criterion being hospitalization. Seventeen patients had ≥ 5 SAE's, which accounted for 60% of total SAE's. No suspected unexpected serious adverse reaction was observed. Six patients (8%) were withdrawn from study during the pretreatment period, three in each arm.



Figure 11. CONSORT diagram.

Treatment response was analyzed in intention to treat (ITT) cohort. Forty-seven of these 72 treated patients (65%) completed three cycles, and 40 patients (56%) completed all six cycles. The median length on treatment was 24 weeks in booth arms (P=0.87). The 4 weeks cycle interval was extended, due to the protocol, with additional time with a median of 1.5 weeks (range, 0-7) in the AZA group and 2.5 weeks (range, 0-10) in the AZA + LEN group (P=0.25). In the AZA + LEN arm, 7 out of 33 patients (21%) increased LEN dose to 25 mg/day.

ORR in the treated cohort was 39% for AZA and 44% for AZA + LEN arm (P=0.63) and CR was 17% and 28%, respectively (P=0.086) (Table 6). Four patients (11%) in both arms had a HI. There were no

53

significant differences in erythroid, neutrophil or platelet responses. Eleven patients received study treatment as bridge to allo-HSCT, six in the AZA arm and five in the AZA + LEN arm (P=0.74), with a median of 6.5 months from study enrollment to transplantation. Responding patients had a shorter pre-treatment disease duration than non-responders, 1.6 vs. 2.4 months (P=0.048). No other pre-treatment variables were significantly associated with ORR.

Variable, No. (%)	Total	AZA	AZA + LEN	AZA vsAZA + LEN
	n = 72	n = 36	n = 36	P
ORR	30 (42)	14 (39)	16 (44)	0.63
CR	6 (8)	4 (11)	2 (6)	0.67
Marrow CR	16 (22)	6 (17)	10 (28)	0.086
PR	0	0	0	1.0
HI	8 (11)	4 (11)	4 (11)	1.0
No response	42 (58)	22 (61)	20 (56)	0.63
Stable disease	8 (11)	5 (14)	3 (8)	0.71
Failure or treatment interrupted due to AE or subject request	34 (47)	17 (47)	17 (47)	1.0
Cytogenetic CR, final assessment	11 (15)	4 (11)	7 (19)	0.18
Cytogenetic PR, final assessment	2 (3)	2 (6)	0	0.49
Cytogenetic response, CR or PR, 3 cycles (FISH)	30 (42)	13 (36)	17 (47)	0.063
No cytogenetic response	28 (39)	16 (44)	12 (33)	0.51
Allogeneic transplantation	11 (15)	6 (17)	5 (14)	0.74

Table 6. Response to treatment in Paper I.

The median follow-up for all patients was 11.5 months. At follow-up 36 months (range, 0-36 months) after the last patient completed the trial, 60 patients (83%) were dead, and 12 patients (17%) were alive. The median survival was 11.5 months for the entire study population, 13.6 months in the AZA arm and 10.8 months in the AZA + LEN arm (P=0.43) (Figure 12). As expected, a diagnosis of AML (P=0.002), TP53 mutations, any type (P=0.0001), and no response (P=0.047) were associated with shorter overall survival. Eighteen patient (25%) continued with AZA, after final assessment, nine patients in each arm. The median survival was 21.1 months for responding patients treated with allo-HSCT and 14.5 months for responding patients not treated with allo-HSCT (P=0.92).



Figure 12. Overall Survival in Paper I. **a.** Survival in patients treated with AZA vs. AZA + LEN (log-rank P=0.43). **b.** Survival comparison between patients with AML or MDS at inclusion (log-rank P=0.002). **c.** Survival among *TP53* mutation subgroups; *TP53* mono-allelic vs. multi-hit vs. *TP53* WT (log-rank P=0.0001).

Limitations

The choice of a patient cohort consisting of higher-risk myeloid neoplasms with a karyotype including del(5q), had the consequence of an unexpected selection bias with a study cohort with even worse prognosis due to a high grad of coexisting CK and multi-hit *TP53* mutations. This was knowledge from studies presented after inclusion had started(66), as well as from early data from our own study. The high grade of *TP53* mutations limited the effect of LEN(58-61).

The study cohort consisted of 72 patients, 36 patients in each arm. This is a relatively small patient cohort. The statistical model in the study was a pick-a-winner model, Simon two step design test(145).

Clinical and genetic studies of high-risk myelodysplastic syndromes and acute myeloid leukemia with chromosome 5q deletion

This model is designed to test if the effect of a phase II study drug and if it is worth to do any further phase III studies. The drug will be rejected if the overall response rate is <10% and continue if overall response rate is >30%, with α =0.05 and power=0.90, allowing 35 patients in each arm. The statistical design will answer if the two treatment arms are possible to take to the next level in the study. However, it is not designed to do any direct comparison between the two groups. Another way to demonstrate the superiority of AZA + LEN vs. AZA, would have been to use a model with two group continuity corrected γ^2 test with a 0.05 one-side significance level and a power=0.90 to detect the difference between a proportion of 20% and a proportion of 40% (odds ratio of 2.667) with the total sample size of 171 patients. A two-sided test would have been preferable due to it was not known if AZA + LEN treatment was better or worse compared to AZA alone. One limitation with the study cohort of highrisk MDS with del(5q) was the low prevalence which affected the recruiting rate (approximately 10 patients/year). If we had chosen the later statistical model, the study had not been ethical defensible because of too long inclusion time needed to answer the scientific question. Involving more sites, might have been a way forward, but it was associated with other problems like high cost per patient due to different patient insurance system outside the Northen countries. The study cohort was a small study, but it can give valuable information together with other similar studies.

The response of primary endpoint was according to 2006 IWG criteria, an efficacy measurement with some limitations. One limitation, in our study population treated with chemotherapy, was response evaluation of hematologic improvement, regarding grade of cytopenia and transfusion burden. According to IWG 2006, a transitory cytopenia and transfusion are accepted as part of the myelosuppressive treatment, if there is a recovery back to baseline. Other accepted causes are infections, hemolysis and gastrointestinal bleeding. This makes HI response more subjective assessment, but it might be diminished if HI is reported as a whole entity and not as changes in single cytopenia. HI response evaluation is more suitable in lower-risk disease. HI response is recommended to make after 8 weeks, but in higher-risk diseases after 4 weeks, to keep up cycle intervals. Baseline transfusion pattern is difficult in a study with 13 different study-centers in four different countries. Marrow response evaluation is also difficult regarding the assessment of acceptable changes due to chemotherapy and remaining dysplastic changes due to dysplastic diseases(146). Response assessment according to IWG 2006 for MDS had a further limitation since the study cohort consisted of both MDS and AML patients. It is preferable to have the same assessment for the entire study cohort and decision was made on basis of the former classification of AML with myelodysplastic changes as RAEB-T. The new revised IWG 2023 response criteria for higher-risk MDS(33) have an intention to harmonize MDS and AML response criteria, e.g. changing the threshold for MDS to <5% instead of \leq 5%. The threshold for Hb has changed from <15 g/dL to <10 g/dL and is more adequate in relation to transfusion need.

The study cohort showed a high degree of risk factors with a high age, AML at diagnosis, marrow fibrosis, CK, therapy related disease and a vast majority with multi-hit *TP53* mutations. This negatively affected response rates and OS. It also affected the rate of patients failing inclusion criteria due to rising bone marrow blast counts and the rate of patients withdrawn from study due to SAE's or progression. Nevertheless, an important advantage of our study is that our cohort probably is representative for this particular patient population.

The median OS was 11.5 months for the entire study population, 13.6 months in the AZA and 10.8 months in the AZA + LEN arm (P=0.48). The worse outcome compared with AZA-001(98) showing a median overall survival of 24.5 months for AZA treated patients is probably explained by the high-risk baseline characteristics in **paper I**.

Cytogenetic analysis

Main findings

Forty-six patients (64%) of the study cohort from NMDSG10B had sufficient cytogenetics at inclusion, after three cycles of treatment and at final assessment and were analyzed in **paper II.** Baseline characteristic of the 26 patients without follow-up cytogenetics were more unfavorable with more transfusion dependency, low platelet counts,

Clinical and genetic studies of high-risk myelodysplastic syndromes and acute myeloid leukemia with chromosome 5q deletion

marrow fibrosis, prior treatment with chemotherapy and more frequent *TP53* mutations. Karyotyping was performed in 70 patients (95%) at inclusion, and in 41 patients (95%) at final assessment. In two patients no metaphases were possible to analyze due to low number of cells in the bone marrow aspirate. At inclusion, mFISH was performed in 43 patients and in 40 patients (93%) several uncertain aberrations were characterized more clearly which has not been identified by karyotyping (Figure 13).



Figure 13. (A) Karyogram after FISH showing a complex aberrant karyotype. **(B)** mFISH of the same patient detecting cryptic aberrations.

Fifty-nine out of 70 karyotyped patients (84%) had a CK at inclusion, 12 patients (20%) with three to four aberrations and 47 patients (80%) with \geq 5 aberrations. Seventeen patients (24%) had a karyotype including 17p aberrations. The number of aberrations at inclusion was associated with survival but not with response to treatment. The median OS was 11.4 months for the entire study population, 9.9 months in patients with a complex karyotype and 25.2 months in patients with less than three aberrations (log rank *P*=0.004) (Figure 14).



Figure 14. OS according to the type of chromosome 5 abnormality and karyotype complexity. (**A**) OS in patients with del(5)(q14q34) vs. unbalanced translocations of 5q deletion (log-rank P=0.004). (**B**) OS according to number of aberrations at inclusion, <3 vs. CK (log-rank P=0.004).

At inclusion, del(5q) was detected by karyotyping and FISH in all cases. At final assessment, the classical banding analysis was significantly more sensitive to detect the deletion in smaller clones compared to FISH, 34 patients (97%) vs. 27 patients (77%) (P=0.027). The aberrant clone was identified by karyotyping, but not by FISH in eight patients (23%), *versus* in only one patient (3%) the aberrant clone was detected by FISH, but not by karyotyping.

A CCyR by karyotyped was achieved in four patients (11%) in the AZA arm and seven patients (19%) in the AZA+LEN arm (P=0.18) and a PCyR was achieved in two patients (6%) in the AZA arm (P=0.49). Twelve patients (43%) showed a cytogenetic progression at final assessment, six patients (38%) in the AZA arm, and six patients (50%) in the AZA + LEN arm (P=0.60). A clonal evolution was detected in eight patients (67%), five patients (63%) in the AZA arm and three patients (37%) in the AZA + LEN arm (P=0.70). Four patients (33%) developed a new independent clone, one patient (25%) in the AZA arm and three patients (75%) in the AZA + LEN arm (P=0.29).

Forty-three of 46 patients (93%) had sufficient cytogenetics after three cycles of treatment. A CCyR (FISH) was achieved in 25 patients (58%), a PCyR was achieved in 6 patients (14%), and no CyR in 12

Clinical and genetic studies of high-risk myelodysplastic syndromes and acute myeloid leukemia with chromosome 5q deletion

patients (28%). A reduction of del(5q) by FISH was observed after cycle three and final assessment, without significant difference between treatment arms. Eleven patients (44%) lost their CCyR after three cycles of treatment, seven patients due to clonal progression, involving five patients (45%) with a clonal evolution and two patients (18%) with a new independent clone, one patient (8%) showed a PCyR at final assessment and two patients (8%) stopped the study due to AE. One patient (4%) was transplanted after three cycles and cytogenetics from week 13 was used as final assessment. Importantly, FISH positivity increased between 3 months and end of study in several patients, indicating that the tumor-inhibiting effect of treatment may be shortlasting (Figure 15).



Figure 15. Bone marrow FISH 5q31% at inclusion, after 3 cycles and final assessment.

Seventy patients were analyzed with karyotype and FISH at inclusion. Thirty patients (57%) had a del(5q)(q14q34) and 40 patients (57%) had del(5q) due to other abnormalities, nearly always due to unbalanced translocations leading to partial loss of 5q.

Complex karyotype was more frequent in patients with unbalanced translocations of 5q compared to del(5q)(q14q34), 39 patients (98%) vs. 20 patients (67%) (P<0.001). Notably, a CK with \geq 5 aberrations

was more frequent among patients with unbalanced translocation of 5q compared to patients with del(5)(q14q34), 33 patients (83%) vs. 13 patients (43%) (P<0.001). Therapy-related MDS or AML were more common in patients with unbalanced translocation of 5q compared to del(5)(q14q34), 14 patients (35%) vs. three patients (10%) (P=0.019). Five patients were classified as IPSS-R low or intermediate, all of those had a del(5)(q14q34) (P=0.006). The ORR was 38% among patients with unbalanced translocations of 5q and 43% for patients with del(5)(q14q34) (P=0.62) and there were no other significant differences in responses to treatment between the two groups. However, patients with del(5)(q14q34) vs. unbalanced translocations of 5q showed a longer OS, 21.1 months vs. 8.4 months (P=0.004) (Table 7).

Deletion 5g at inclusion	Total	del(5)(q14q34)	Unbalanaced translocations of	5g
	n=70	n=30	n=40	P
Age	72 (35-84)	73,5 (35-84)	70.0 (37-82)	0,096
complex karyotype	59 (84)	20 (67)	39 (98)	<.001
complex karyotype, chr 17 excluded	58 (81)	19 (63)	39 (98)	<.001
complex, > 4 abnormalities	46 (66)	13 (43)	33 (83)	<.001
Other abnormalities				
Chromosome 17	17 (24)	5 (17)	12 (31)	0.18
monosomy 7/del(7q)	22 (31)	7 (23)	15 (38)	0.21
inv3/l(3q)/del(3q)	3 (4)	1 (3)	2 (5)	1.0
Chromosome 9	12(17)	5 (17)	7 (18)	0.93
number of oncogenic gene mutations	1 (0-5)	1 (0-5)	1 (0-4)	0.002
TP53 mutation present	52 (74)	16 (53)	36 (90)	<.001
TP53 mutation mono-allelic	3 (4)	2 (7)	1 (2.5)	0.57
TP53 mutations multi-hit	49 (70)	14 (47)	35 (88)	<.001
TP53 1 mutation + del	15 (21)	5 (17)	10 (25)	0.41
TP53 1 mutation + cnloh	16 (23)	5 (17)	11 (28)	0.29
TP53 >1 mutations	18 (26)	4 (13)	14 (35)	0.041
TP53.WT	12 (17)	10 (33)	2 (5)	0.002
another drivermutation (TET2_SF3B1	19 (28)	13 (45)	6 (15)	0.007
ASXL1.RUNX1. SRSF2. BCOR. CBL)	020200100	10.00	(1.1. W. (1.1. P.)	
TET2	3 (4)	1 (3)	2 (5)	1.0
SF3B1	9 (13)	8 (29)	1 (3)	0.008
ASXL1	6 (9)	3 (11)	3 (9)	1.0
RUNX1	1 (1)	1 (4)	0	0.45
SRSF2	1(1)	1 (4)	0	0.45
BCOR	1 (1)	0	1 (4)	1.0
CBL	1(1)	1 (4)	0	0.45
elevated blasts over 5 percents	45 (67)	21 (72)	24 (63)	0.42
severe thrombocytopenia less 50	39 (58)	13 (45)	26 (68)	0.052
therapy related state	17 (25)	3 (10)	14 (35)	0.019
IPPS-R, low+ intermediate	5 (10)	5 (25)	0	0.006
IPSS-R, poor	14 (27)	5 (25)	9 (28)	0.81
IPSS-R, very poor	33 (63)	10 (50)	23 (72)	0.11
AML	18 (26)	10 (33)	8 (20)	0.21
Enough cytogenetics final assessment	44 (63)	22 (73)	22 (55)	0.12
Cytogenetic progression (n=38)	12 (32)	8 (38)	4 (24)	0.33
Clonal evolution (n=38)	8 (21)	4 (19)	4 (24)	1.0
Independent clone (n=38)	4 (11)	4 (19)	0	0.11
EGR1 % inclusion (n=29/39)	76 (0-98)	70 (18-98)	79 (0-95)	0.33
RPS14 %, inclusion (n=22/25)	74 (8-97)	79.5 (19-96)	71 (8-97)	0.13

Table 7: Del(5)(q14q34) versus unbalanced translocation of 5q.

Limitations

Our aim was to investigate the efficacy after adding LEN to AZA treatment in higher-risk MDS patients and AML patients with

Clinical and genetic studies of high-risk myelodysplastic syndromes and acute myeloid leukemia with chromosome 5q deletion

myeloid dysplasia and 20-30% blasts with a karyotype including del(5q). In **paper I**, **II** and **III** we used karyotyping and FISH to find the 5q deletion. mFISH was used to identify cryptic aberrations and sort out the cytogenetic complexity. This might have helped us to identify patients fulfilling inclusion criteria. On the other hand, the possibility to find patients with karyotype including del(5q) among other aberrations, selected patients with CK in high extent, which might have been a negative selection bias to the results **paper I**.

A reduction of del(5q) by FISH was observed after three cycles but increased between cycle 3 and end of study in several patients. This data support more frequent monitoring. However, usage of FISH as only method to detect the del(5q) clone is difficult. In **paper II** we observed that karyotyping was significantly more sensitivity to detect del(5q) compared to FISH. This finding has also been shown previously in MDS-004 study(147). Small clones, below FISH detection, might have gone under the radar and progressed later, affection the response negatively.

The additive value of cytogenetic methods in prognosis settings has been questioned, since different analyzing methods for gene mutation have been cheaper and are more frequently used in clinical practice. However, MDS del(5q) remains still an entity in the WHO's 5th classification as well as the ICC, and is treated with specific therapy. Cytogenetic response evaluation remains important in clinical studies, and an improved OS was seen in AZA treated patients with a cytogenic response(148). This was also noticed in **paper II**, patients with CK had a shorter median OS compared to patients with less than three aberrations, 9.9 months vs. 25.2 months (log rank *P*=0.004).

Morphological analysis

Main findings

An adequate bone marrow trephine biopsies were available in 70 of 72 patients, while the assessment was based on smears only in two patients. In seven patients, bone marrow smears were inadequate and/or not representative due to extremely low cellularity and/or hemodilution, therefore assessment was primarily based on corresponding biopsy material. Morphological classification according to the revised WHO 2016 was as follow, 53 (74%) MDS patients and 19 (26%) AML patients. In ten of 19 (53%) AML patients bone marrow smears were either hemodiluted (three patients) or had blast counts below 20% (7 patients), therefore definite diagnosis was established only by histological examination of trephine biopsy. Significant (grade 2-3) marrow fibrosis was present in three of these patients.

Comparison of manual blast counts in bone marrow smears/imprints and the frequency of blast cells in the biopsy using IHC (CD34) was calculated for groups using cut-off levels according to the WHO 2016 classification. In 38 of 72 (53%) cases, the percentage of blasts was comparable, thus assigning the patients to the same subgroup. In 18 of 72 (25%) samples, significant higher blast percentages were detected in the bone marrow trephine, shifting the diagnosis to a higher MDS subgroup (13 patients) or AML (five patients) (P<0.001), including nine MDS patients with initial <5% blasts by cytomorphology (P=0.011) and four MDS patients with initial 5-<10% blasts by aspirate (P=0.43); five MDS patients with excess blasts between 10-<20% by aspirate (P=0.047) were eventually diagnosed as AML based on IHC findings (Figure 16). In seven cases (10%) bone marrow smears were of poor quality and assessment was therefore primarily based on biopsy. In six patients (8%), the blast percentage was higher in bone marrow smears compared to CD34+ blast cells in the biopsy, indicating a fraction of blasts lacked CD34-positivity. Three patients with AML and 20-30% blasts cells in smears had sheets of blasts cells exceeding the 30% threshold in the biopsy material.



Figure 16. Comparison of blast% in CD34+ cells in biopsy vs. blast% in aspirate at inclusion.

Patients with blast percentages within the same range by both methods had a significant lower rate of CR compared to cases were the percentages of blast cells differed by bone marrow biopsy vs. cytomorphology, six out of 26 patients (23%) vs. 10 out of 17 patients (59%) (P=0.0018).

At inclusions, 51 patients (74%) had no or only grade 1 fibrosis and 18 patients (26%) had significant (grade 2 or 3) marrow fibrosis. The effect of marrow fibrosis was assessed with respect to blast percentages in bone marrow aspirate vs. the trephine biopsy. In 18 patients the blast percentages were higher in the bone marrow biopsy vs. aspirate smears: 16 patients with no or only mild fibrosis and one patient had significant fibrosis. In **paper I** 16 patients (22%) showed a marrow CR in total, six patients (17%) in the AZA arm and ten patients (28%) in the AZA + LEN arm, respectively (*P*=0.086).

In conclusion, our study in **paper III** demonstrates higher blast percentages in bone marrow biopsy compared to cytomorphology in a significant number of cases independent of marrow fibrosis underscoring the additive value of a histological examination for correct diagnosis and risk assignment, in high-risk MDS and borderline forms, both in routine diagnostics and in the frame of clinical trials.

Limitations

Higher-risk MDS and AML patients with a karyotype including del(5q) have a dismal prognosis. This was observed in our study cohort with a low number of patients reaching final assessment. Patients who ended the study earlier, due to disease progression or adverse events, had a higher grade of risks factors including fibrosis grade 2 or 3. A bone marrow at final assessment was made in low extent in patients who stopped the study earlier. This might have influenced the cohort at final assessment, since patients reaching final assessment belonged to a better risk group compared to all included. However, the ORR and marrow CR was low in the study cohort with high-risk features. This further might have reduced the possibility to see any morphological differences in the small study cohort at final assessment. We demonstrated a significant higher blast percentage in the bone marrow trephine compared bone marrow smears, affecting finals classification of 18 patients (25%) in the cohort, shifting the diagnosis of 13 patients to a higher subclassification of MDS and five patients to AML. However, this did not affect the response rate, likely because most of the patients had very poor risk disease. There is no difference in risk classification, according to IPSS-R, in patients with marrow blasts of 10-20% or 20-<30%(149). A fixed blast percentage may be less important regarding outcome compared to genetic and clinical characteristics(150). The usage of marrow CR without HI in clinical trials has been diminished in the revised IWG 2023 response assessment(33) and it is only recommended for assessment before allo-HSCT.

Mutational analysis

Main findings

We detected 37 different mutations in 70 patients at inclusion (Table 8). The median number of mutations was two (range, 0-6). There was no significant difference in ORR according to mutational status. Fifty-three patients (76%) carried a *TP53* mutations and 49 (92%) of these were multi-hit. In patients with multi-hit *TP53* mutations, 15 (31%) patients had one mutation + del(17p), 16 (33%) patients had one mutation + cnLOH, and 18 (37%) patients had bi-or triallelic mutations.

2	Incidence, NGS	No. Mutated	
Mutation	n=70 (%)	AZA, AZA+LEN	
ASXL	6 (9)	3, 3	
BCL10	1 (1)	1, 0	
BCOR	1 (1)	0, 1	
BCROL1	2 (3)	2,0	
CALR	1 (1)	0, 1	
CBL	1 (1)	1, 0	
CEBPA	1 (1)	1, 0	
CSF1R	1 (1)	0, 1	
CSF3R	1 (1)	1, 0	
CSNK1A1	3 (4)	2, 1	
DDX41	2 (3)	1, 1	
DDX54	1 (1)	0, 1	
DNMT3A	12 (17)	7, 5	
EGFR	1 (1)	1, 0	
EP300	2 (3)	0, 2	
EZH2	6 (9)	3, 3	
GATA2	3 (4)	1, 2	
GNB1	1 (1)	0, 1	
IDH1	1 (1)	1, 0	
IDH2	1 (1)	1, 0	
KMT2C	1 (1)	1, 0	
KRAS	1 (1)	1, 0	
LUC7L2	1 (1)	1, 0	
NF1	3 (4)	1, 2	
NRAS	2 (3)	1, 1	
PPM1D	2 (3)	1, 1	
PTPN11	2 (3)	1, 1	
RAD50	1 (1)	1, 0	
ROBO1	2 (3)	1, 1	
RUNX1	1 (1)	1, 0	
SF3B1	10 (14)	3, 7	
SH2B3	2 (3)	1, 1	
SRSF2	1 (1)	1, 0	
TET2	3 (4)	0, 3	
TP53	53 (76)	27, 26	
TP53 1 mutation	4 (8)	2, 2	
TP53 multi-mutations	49 (92)	25, 24	
TP53 1 mutation + del	15 (31)	10, 5	
TP53 1 mutation + cnloh	16 (33)	8, 8	
TP53 >1 mutations	18 (37)	7, 11	
TP53 WT	13 (19)	8, 5	
ZBTB33	1 (1)	1, 0	
No mutations	2 (3)	3, 1	

Table 8. Mutations analyzed by NGS at inclusion

In **paper I** the ORR in patients carrying a *TP53* mutation was 47% (P=0.99). Responding patients had a median VAF at final assessment of 0% in the single patient in mono-allelic group and 5.7% (0-93%) in

Clinical and genetic studies of high-risk myelodysplastic syndromes and acute myeloid leukemia with chromosome 5q deletion

the multi-hit group (P=0.21). After treatment an interesting pattern was observed in *TP53* (VAF%). In 12 of 15 patients with any response, VAF was significantly reduced (P=0.0001) at final assessment, with no significant differences of the change in VAF% between treatment arms (P=0.49) (Figure 17). Patients with a *TP53* mutation, any type, were associated with a shorter median OS (log-rank P=0.0001).



Figure 17. *TP53* mutation VAF% in responding patients at inclusion and at final assessment.

In **paper II**, 36 patients (90%) with unbalanced translocation of 5q carried a *TP53* mutation vs. 16 patients (53%) with del(5q) (P<0.001). Multi-hit *TP53* alterations (P<0.001) and among those biallelic *TP53* mutations (P=0.041) were more common in the group with unbalanced translocation of 5q vs. del(5)(q14q34). Ten patients (33%) with del(5)(q14q34) were *TP53* WT vs. two patients (5%) among patients with unbalanced translocation of 5q (P=0.002). The median number of oncogenic mutations was 1 (range, 0-5) in patients with del(5q)(q14q34) and 1 (range, 0-4) in patients with unbalanced translocation of 5q (P=0.002). *TP53* mutations with another driver mutation (*ASXL*, *BCOR*, *CBL*, *RUNX1*, *SF3B1* and/or *TET2*) were more common in patients with del(5)(q14q34), 13 patients (45%) vs. 6

(15%) in patients with unbalanced translocations of 5q (P=0.007). *SF3B1* mutations were observed in eight patients (29%) with del(5)(q14q34) and one patients with an unbalanced translocation of 5q (P=0.008).

Correlation with p53 staining status and TP53 mutation

Assessment of TP53 mutational status is essential for prognostic assessment in high-risk myeloid disease and particular in patients with del(5q)(31, 66). p53 staining status gives additive information of the occurrence of TP53 mutations. In paper III, 49 patients (70%) had evidence of multi-hit TP53 mutation and a strong p53 staining in erythroid and/or myeloid precursors was noted in 57 patients (80%) at diagnosis. The p53 staining was negative in 14 patients at inclusion, while molecular analysis discovered biallelic TP53 mutations in six patients and monoallelic TP53 mutation in one patient. Screening for TP53 mutation failed in two patients (4%) who had strong positive p53 staining ranging between 5-<20%. Stainable p53 was detected in 10 patients (14%) without proven TP53 mutation. In AML a strong p53 staining was observed in 18 of 19 patients. A strong p53 staining showing a frequency of >20% was significantly more common in AML patients compared to MDS patients, 12 patients (63%) vs. 17 patients (32%), respectively (P=0.021). Forty-two patients (58%) were positive in p53 with a TP53 multi-hit, 16 AML patients (84%) compared to 26 MDS patients (49%) (P=0.009).

Forty-one patients reached final assessment, and 20 patients were analyzed both by p53 IHC and *TP53* sequencing. Six patients (30%) still showed *TP53* mutations sequencing and were positive by IHC. Patients showed the same complementary pattern at final assessment as inclusion with p53 staining and *TP53* mutations. Four (20%) and three (15%) patients, respectively, were positive only by sequencing or IHC. The four patients with only positive sequencing, two of those patients had lost their p53 positivity since inclusion and two had same status as inclusion. The three patients with a positive IHC, two of those patients were IHC positive and had *TP53* mutations at inclusion and one showed the same status as inclusion. Seven patients were negative by sequencing and IHC. In conclusion, bone marrow trephine biopsy including IHC p53 provides complementary information to *TP53* mutational status. A reduction of strong p53 staining was observed at final assessment (Figure 18). The reduction of *TP53* (VAF%) was also noted in 12 of 15 patients with any response (*P*=0.0001). Results from two different studies indicates allowing results in outcome after allo-HSCT in *TP53* mutated higher-risk MDS patients, if initial treatment markedly reduces *TP53* mutated clone size(135, 137).



Figure 18. Comparison of changes in percentages of strong p53 cells (IHC) at inclusion and at final assessment.

At final assessment 25 patients (61%) showed strong p53 staining and 16 patients (39%) did not show strong p53 staining. A CR was significantly more frequent in patients with no p53 expression vs. those with strong p53 expression, five patients (31%) vs. one patient (4%) (P=0.026). CCyR was significantly higher in patients without strong p53 staining vs. those with strong p53 staining, eight patients (53%)

vs. three patients (13%) (P=0.010). NoCyR was more frequent in patients with a strong p53 staining vs. those without, 19 patients (83%) vs. six patients (40%) (P=0.005). The median OS was 16.3 months for patients reaching final assessment, 13.6 months in patients with a remaining strong p53 and 25.2 months in patients without (log-rank 0.050).

Limitations

Patients with higher-risk myeloid neoplasm with a CK including del(5q) and especially with a multi-hit TP53 mutation have a resistant to different therapies, and the relapse risk after allo-HSCT is very high (151). At inclusion, most patients in our study cohort had a strong p53 staining and a confirmed TP53 mutations, often multi-hit. Fortyone patients (57%) reached final assessment. It may be difficult to compare cohort at inclusion and final assessment since patients reaching final assessment may have more favorable prognosis compared to the whole study cohort at inclusion. TP53 WT was significantly higher in patients reaching final assessment compared to those patients who stopped treatment before final assessment. The relatively low number of patients reaching final assessment with few numbers of mutational analyzes plus the low response rate in the patient cohort with a severe outcome, might also have affected the possibility make conclusions from the study population since the differences are small. However, patients with a response to treatment showed reduction of p53 by clone size and had a longer survival.

One limitation with the mutational analysis was the usage of different gene panels at inclusion and final assessment, LymphoprepTM (42 genes) and TruSightTM (54 genes). However, the study cohort consisted of a high grade of multi-hit *TP53* mutated patients which may have reflected the low numbers of co-mutations. This is known from other studies showing patients with a multi-hit *TP53* mutation have low numbers of other driver mutations compared to patients with a mono-allelic *TP53* mutation(66). Both gene panels included *ASXL1*, *BCOR*, *JAK2*, *RUNX1*, *SF3B1*, *SRSF2* and *TET2*, except from *CBL* which was only analyzed by TruSightTM, genes which are important to analyze since they are more frequent in *TP53* mono-allelic

compared to multi-hit(66). This might have been reflected in in the group with unbalanced translocation of 5q vs. del(5)(q14q34). Multihit *TP53* alterations and biallelic *TP53* mutations were more frequent in patients with an unbalanced translocation of 5q compared to del(5)(q14q34). Del(5)(q14q34) had more frequent *TP53* WT, higher number of driver mutations and *TP53* mutations with other driver mutations, especially *SF3B1*.

The gene panels had different sensitivity of VAF% at inclusion and final assessment. This might have been a limitation in our studies since TruSightTM have a sensitivity for VAF% of \geq 5% compared to LymohoprepTM with a VAF of \geq 2%. Our agreement with Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Clinic, New York, did not include follow-up, this was the reason for why we used TruSightTM analyzed at Science for Life Laboratory, Uppsala.

Del(5q) FISH positivity decreased after three cycles of treatment but increased thereafter. The p53 staining detected in small evolving or increasing fraction of cells with strong nuclear staining in sequential biopsies, indicating expansion of an underlying *TP53* mutated subclone, even in cases that showed morphological response by rutin parameters. Patient with strong p53 staining at final assessment also had significant lower rate of CCyR. Patients with high-risk myeloid malignancies have a dismal prognosis and within this group those with CK including del(5q) and *TP53* mutations have even worse prognosis. The treatment effect on *TP53* mutated cells have a short-lasting duration and do not translate into improved patient outcome.
Conclusions

- The findings in the clinical study show that high-risk MDS with del(5q) is a myeloid disorder with a dismal prognosis.
- The addition of LEN to AZA treatment did not improve the outcome of patients with high-risk MDS or AML with 20-30% marrow blasts with a karyotype including del(5q).
- There seems to be a window of molecular response to AZA after 3 months of treatment. A reduction of del(5q) by FISH was observed after cycle three and at final assessment, without significant difference between treatment arms. FISH positivity increased between 3 months and end of study in several patients, indicating that the tumor-inhibiting effect of treatment may be short-lasting.
- In 12 of 15 patients with any response, *TP53* VAF% was significantly reduced at final assessment, with no significant differences of the change in VAF% between treatment arms.
- Both complex karyotype and multi-hit *TP53* alterations were more frequent in patients with unbalanced translocations of 5q compared to del(5q)(q14q34).
- The morphological study demonstrates higher blast percentages in bone marrow biopsy compared to cytomorphology in a significant number of cases independent of marrow fibrosis underscoring the additive value of a histological examination for correct diagnosis and risk assignment, in high-risk MDS and borderline forms, both in routine diagnostics and in the frame of clinical trials.
- Both IHC p53 and *TP53* sequencing analysis provide complementary information on *TP53* mutational status thereby contributing to prognostic assessment.

Future perspectives

What will be a way forward to solve the gordian knot represented by higher-risk myeloid malignancies with a karyotype including del(5q)? To deliver an Alexander cut might not be a solution since many MDS patients are elderly.

Even if the combination of AZA + LEN did not improve the outcome of the higher-risk myeloid malignancies with del(5q) with extreme high-risk characteristics, important lessons can be drawn from our studies.

It is important to design prospective studies to enable detailed assessment of biological characteristics in defined patients group treated with target therapies. However, the incidence of MDS patients with a specific characteristic is rare. There is a need of broader collaborations to facilitate gathering a study cohort large enough to show statistically significant differences and to optimize the inclusion rate. A way forward of making it easier would be a model like the Nordic patient insurance system, adopted in a broader extent in Europe. This to enable international academic studies across national borders. MDS patients are often elderly and due to different exclusion criteria have these patients a reduced possibility to be included in phase III clinical trials. One of the exclusion criteria in our clinical study was expected survival less than two months, sometimes difficult to estimate. On the other hand, we did not exclude patients according to performance status and patients were recruited from 13 different study centers which normally treat high-risk MDS patients, which might have made the study more "real-world" cohort. Eligible criteria have a tendence to be similar in phase I and phase III studies and does not necessary reflect safety associated with the study drug. A concordance of 13% between safety data from phase I studies reflected in exclusion criteria in phase III studies was presented in a review study analyzing the eligible criteria in 191 clinical trials of MDS patients registered at ClinicalTrials.com between 2000 until 2023 (152). Real-world studies, without excluding older patients, are essential to give realistic expectations and will minish selection bias data from a selected study cohort.

It is important to include molecular analysis in clinical trials in assessment of residual disease(119, 137) and be aware of the increased number of clonal hematopoiesis of indeterminate potential with the older MDS patients (73).

Corroborating the findings of other investigators hypomethylating agents has an anti-tumoral effect on *TP53* mutated cells, even though it is temporary and do not improve patients outcome. Timing of treatment is important and future therapeutic studies on patients with CK and *TP53* mutated MDS should be of shorter duration, with molecular follow-up after each cycle, and in suitable patients a rapid planning for allo-HSCT(135, 137).

The question of finding specific targeted therapies in MDS are tricky. The MDS-patient cohort is heterogenic per se and within the subgroup of high-risk MDS with a karyotype including del(5q) the patient group have several risks to take in consideration when choosing the target. The additional effect of LEN to AZA might have been overcome by the vast majority of multi-hit TP53 mutated patients with a CK. Finding a combination which is targeting different aspect of the disease is difficult but also the only way forward. Different phase I/II clinical trials of restoring the transcriptional activity of p53 with eprenetapopt in combination with AZA have initially shown promising responses(118, 119) but the phase III trial was negative and the combination of eprenetapopt + AZA was not superior to AZA alone(120). The effect of LEN requires a functioning p53(49-51). An alternative combination of LEN might be with a study drug capable of restoring the mutant p53 back to p53 WT. A third generation thiosemicarbazone, COTI-2, with an effect of transforming mutated p53 in the direction to WT(153) would be an interesting combination with LEN.

The borderline between MDS and AML is arbitrary, and the diseases are often driven by specific biological characteristics like *TP53*-mutations. To increase available studies for MDS-patients would be a closer cooperation with different AML-groups to investigate if MDS-patients are assessed eligible to include in clinical AML-studies would be useful. Both the WHO's 5th classification as well as the ICC arguing of include patients with 10-30% blasts in AML-like therapies(3, 4). This would also make more patients available for inclusion in studies. If more MDS patients were to be included, it would be important to consider different exclusion criteria and management of prolonged cytopenia.

At last, it is important to have in mind what benefit the MDS-patient most. What should be a meaningful ORR of the treatment in relation to a cost-benefit analyses, also in relation to different biological agecategories. What is natural aging and what can we prevent?

Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning

En aprildag våren 2010 låg det annars så hektiska Arlanda öde och tomt. Askmolnet från Eyjafjallajökull 's vulkanutbrott hade spridits över stora delar av norra Europa och lamslagit flygtrafiken. Samtidigt samlades den nordiska MDS gruppen (NMDSG) till sitt återkommande forskningsmöte på Arlanda. Bertil Uggla hade tagit med mig till denna livaktiga forskningsgrupp. Under ledning av Eva Hellström-Lindberg, diskuterades behovet av att finna nya behandlingar för patienter med högrisk myelodysplastiskt syndrom (MDS) som har en mycket dålig prognos. Hypoteser framfördes om det var möjligt ett lägga till ytterligare behandling till azacitidin, som utgjorde förstahandsbehandlingen. Kunde en riktad terapi med lenalidomid leda till förbättrade resultat för patienter med högrisk MDS som saknade en del av långa armen på kromosom 5 (del(5q))? Kunde läkemedlet ha samma effekt vid högrisk MDS som vid lågrisk MDS? En ny klinisk studie (NMDSG10B) tog form under ledning av Lars Möllgård.

MDS är en typ av blodcancer som drabbar den "myeloida" cellinjen som normalt bildar röda blodkroppar, vita blodkroppar och blodplättar. Det uppkommer olika grader av blodbrist beroende på var mognadsstörningen sker. Detta kan yttra sig i en brist som enbart påverkar utmognaden av en cellinje, till exempel brist på röda blodkroppar (anemi). I andra fall, kan störningen ske tidigt i utmognaden och påverka flera eller samtliga "myeloida" cellinjer. Patienter kan då få en uttalad blodbrist, blödningsbenägenhet samt ökad infektionskänslighet. Patienter med MDS löper en risk att försämras och har en förhöjd risk att utveckla akut myeloisk leukemi (AML). Den vanligaste åldern för att insjukna i MDS är 76 år i Sverige och män har en ökad risk att insjukna i MDS jämfört med kvinnor.

MDS är ett syndrom med varierande grad av sjukdomsbild och prognos. Patienter med goda prognosmarkörer "lågrisk" MDS har en förväntad överlevnad på flera år. Däremot är prognosen betydligt sämre för patienter med "högrisk" MDS med en förväntad överlevnad på några månader. Prognosen påverkas av flera faktorer, bland annat av förekomsten av omogna celler "blaster". Vid en tidig mognadstörning ses en högre andel blaster. Gränsdragningen mellan högrisk MDS och AML är svår och gränsen har ändrats över tid, från tidigare 30% blaster till idag 10–20% blaster, beroende på klassificeringssystem. Prognosen påverkas även av kromosomförändringar och ca 50% av patienterna med MDS har olika former av kromosomavvikelser. Den vanligast kromosomförändringen är del(5q) (patienten saknar del av långa armen på kromosom 5) och motsvarar ca 10% av fallen. Antalet kromosomförändringar har också betydelse och patienter med tre eller fler kromosomförändringar (komplex karyotyp) har en dålig prognos. Vid MDS ses i 90% av patientfallen någon eller flera mutationer i de sjukdomsalstrande cellerna. *TP53* mutationer kan förekomma vid MDS. *TP53* mutationen påverkar celldöden på ett ogynnsamt sätt vilket leder till en försämrad prognos.

Behandlingen av patienter med lågrisk MDS utgörs av understödjande, symptomlindrande terapi. Detta sker med läkemedel som stimulerar bildandet av röda blodkroppar (erytrocyter) erytrocytstimulerande läkemedel eller med regelbundna blodtransfusioner. Lågrisk MDS med del(5q) kan behandlas med lenalidomid, vilket är ett immunmodulerande läkemedel. Effekten av läkemedlet försämras vid en samtidig förekomst av *TP53* mutation.

Högrisk MDS behandlas med azacitidin (AZA), vilket är det enda godkända läkemedlet i Europa. AZA fungerar genom att det påverkar "låsfunktionen" hos DNA, ett "hypometylerande" läkemedel. Effekten av AZA är bromsande, med en förlängd överlevnad på 15 månader, men behandlingen är inte botande. Den enda botande behandling som finns är benmärgstransplantation, då patienten får blodbildande stamceller från en donator, "allogen stamcellstransplantation". Behandlingen är krävande för patienten och hänsyn behöver tas dels till patientens biologiska ålder och dels till samsjuklighet.

Avhandling bygger på tre studier. Första studien är en jämförande studie där vi studerande effekten av kombinationsbehandlingen med AZA +LEN jämfört med enbart AZA hos patienter med högrisk MDS och AML med 20–30% blaster i benmärgen och en samtidig kromosomförändring med del(5q). 72 patienter från 13 olika center i Sverige, Danmark, Norge och Finland ingick i studien. Patienterna lottades till att få behandling med antingen enbart AZA eller AZA + LEN.

Behandlingen varade i sex månader. Effekten av behandlingen studerade vi genom att bedöma grad av "remission" i form av kvarvarande omogna celler, kromosomförändringar och förbättrade blodvärden. Vi studerade om kombinationsbehandlingen var säker genom att följa biverkningar. Antalet patienter som ingick i studien var relativt få, varför det inte gick att dra några direkta slutsatser avseende överlevnad även om vi hade det som ett av våra effektmått. Tyvärr kunder studien inte påvisa någon ytterligare effekt med tillägget av LEN till AZA jämfört med enbart AZA. Patienter med högrisk MDS med del(5q) har en generellt dålig prognos. Därtill är det vanligt att högrisk MDS patienter med del(5q) samtidigt har en komplex karvotyp och TP53 mutationer, vilket försämrar möjligheten till att svara på behandlingen och försämrar prognosen ytterligare. Detta är kunskap som framkommit under senare år och inte var känd när studien startades. Däremot kunde vi se i studien att den TP53 muterade klonen minskade hos de patienter som svarade på behandlingen.

I studie II undersökte vi vilken betydelse kromosomförändringar har vid högrisk MDS, deras betydelse för hur patienten svarade på behandling och möjligheten till att förutse behandlingssvar. Studien gjordes i samarbete med forskare vid ett cytogenetiskt laboratorium i Hannover, Tyskland. Vi kunde inte utifrån kromosomavvikelser se några avgörande skillnader i hur patienter svarade på behandlingen med AZA + LEN eller AZA. Däremot såg vi att hos en del patienter minskade del(5q) klonen efter tre behandlingsomgångar, mätt med Fluorescence *in situ* hybridisering, för att sedan åter försämras vid slutbedömningen efter sex månader. Vi såg även en kortare överlevnad hos de patienter som hade en komplex karotyp samt hos de patienter där deletionen på kromosom 5 var lokaliserad på en annan plats än den vanligt förekommande platsen för deletionen.

Delarbete III var en morfologisk studien där vi studerade diagnostiken och om den skiljdes åt mellan benmärgsbiopsi och benmärgsaspirat. Benmärgsbiopsin utgörs av benmärg samt omkringliggande stödjestrukturer medan benmärgsaspiratet innehåller blodbildande celler som aspirerats från benmärgen med hjälp av en grov nål. Vi studerade även, med hjälp av immunohistokemisk infärgning, olika benmärgsstrukturer som blaster och förekomsten av starkt infärgad p53 och jämförde det med förekomsten av samtidig *TP53* mutation. Studien visade på att 18 patienter (25%) av totalt 72 patienter fick en annan klassificering av MDS/AML vid undersökning med benmärgsbiopsi jämfört med aspirat. Vi såg, såväl vid diagnos som vid uppföljande prov, nyttan med både infärgning av p53 samt *TP53* mutationsanalys då proverna kompletterar varandra och därmed kan påvisa förekomst av *TP53* mutation, vilket är en värdefull pusselbit för bedömning av prognosen.

I våra studier av patienter med högrisk MDS med del(5q) har vi kunnat se en effekt av AZA behandling även om den varit kortvarig. Behovet kvarstår att finna nya behandlingsstrategier som förbättrar överlevnaden för denne grupp av patienter med mycket dålig prognos.

Acknowledgements

Fulfilling the work with this thesis has been like working with an orchestra of talented musicians. The different tones are united in a kind of opus with the intention of helping the patients. I am grateful for having had the opportunity to look after the sheet music for the orchestra.

My deepest thanks to:

Lars Möllgård, my main supervisor, thanks for all your support with competence, encouragement, good advice and friendliness. It has been a long and exiting journey.

Eva Hellström-Lindberg, my co-supervisor, chief conductor of the Nordic MDS group, and an international authority in MDS research field. Thank you for your leadership, knowledge, connections, efforts, support and letting me be a part of this project.

Bertil Uggla, my co-supervisor, former boss and roommate. Thank you for introducing me to NMDSG and for your sharp intellect, accuracy and giving me the time with this work during the years.

Ulf Tidefelt, my initial main supervisor, who passed away to early. I am thankful for his experiences and pragmatic way of initiating the work with my thesis.

Gudrun Göhring, thank you for all your helpfulness end efforts during the work with the cytogenetics. Thank you for your enthusiasm, collaborations and forbearance in explaining cytogenetics.

Brigitte Sclegelberger, thank you for your help and support in initiating and finishing the work with the complex cytogenetics.

Leonie Saft, thank you for all your ideas and competence with the morphological study and your engagement in discussing hypothesis not once rather thrice.

All members in **the Nordic MDS group**, thank you for the vivid discussions, the flat structure of organization and your engagement in the research of finding new methods in helping the MDS patients.

A special thanks to Jan Maxwell Nørgaard, Astrid Olsnes Kittang and Freja Ebeling, national coordinators of NMDSG10B, for all your efforts and support in making the clinical study possible.

I would like to thank all 22 study-sites, investigators, study nurses, and especially co-authors Lars Nilsson, Magnus Tobiasson, Martin Jädersten, Hege Garelius, Ingunn Dybedal, Kirsten Grønbaek, Elisabeth Ejerblad, Fryderyk Lorenz, Max Flogegård, and Claus Werenberg Marcher for all your work with including patients, sending CRF's and discussing the results of the studies.

Anette Öster Fernström, thank you for all positive e-mails and for helping me coordinating the clinical study. Monica Jansson and the supporting staff at HERM-lab for your competent work with the biobanking process.

Lucia Cavelier, thank you for your help and support with molecular analysis.

Elsa Bernard and **Elli Papaemmanuil**, thank you for the interesting collaboration and competence making the mutational analysis at inclusion possible.

Erik Ahlstrand, my boss and friend, thank you for convincing me of the opportunity with hematology.

Thanks to all my current and former colleagues Olle Linder, Mats Björeman, Maria Åström, Piotr Kozlowski, Magdalena Kättström, Jacob Crafoord, Signe Danielsson, Khaled Assalh, Saeid Karafaky, Markus Liew-Littorin, Simon Golowin and Israa Enebtawi, you are working hard but are always willing to support.

I would like to thank **department of Medicine** at Örebro University hospital for giving me the time to work with this thesis and for the financial support from **Örebro University**.

Thanks to **the booknerds**, **the theater subscribers** and **Örebro Chamber Choir** for giving me your friendship and a balance in life.

To **all my friends** for sharing good times and helping me back after my cycle accident 17OCT2016.

My deepest thanks to my **mamma** and **pappa** for your unrestrictive love. I would like to thank my three sisters and the larger family for sharing genes and experiences.

At last, but not least, I am so thankful for my closest family. My deepest thanks and love to **Gunlög**, you are a lioness and have an incredible capacity. **David**, **Nora**, **Liv** and **Nils** you are all unique with different personalities and talents, I am lucky to have you all.

References with numbers

- 1. Bennett JM, Catovsky D, Daniel MT, Flandrin G, Galton DA, Gralnick HR, et al. Proposals for the classification of the myelodysplastic syndromes. Br J Haematol. 1982;51(2):189-99.
- 2. Arber DA, Orazi A, Hasserjian R, Thiele J, Borowitz MJ, Le Beau MM, et al. The 2016 revision to the World Health Organization classification of myeloid neoplasms and acute leukemia. Blood. 2016;127(20):2391-405.
- 3. Arber DA, Orazi A, Hasserjian RP, Borowitz MJ, Calvo KR, Kvasnicka HM, et al. International Consensus Classification of Myeloid Neoplasms and Acute Leukemias: integrating morphologic, clinical, and genomic data. Blood. 2022;140(11):1200-28.
- 4. Khoury JD, Solary E, Abla O, Akkari Y, Alaggio R, Apperley JF, et al. The 5th edition of the World Health Organization Classification of Haematolymphoid Tumours: Myeloid and Histiocytic/Dendritic Neoplasms. Leukemia. 2022;36(7):1703-19.
- Rollison DE, Howlader N, Smith MT, Strom SS, Merritt WD, Ries LA, et al. Epidemiology of myelodysplastic syndromes and chronic myeloproliferative disorders in the United States, 2001-2004, using data from the NAACCR and SEER programs. Blood. 2008;112(1):45-52.
- 6. Nationellt kvalitetsregister för MDS. Myelodysplastiskt syndrom (MDS): nationell kvalitetsrapport för 2009-2023: Regionalt cancercentrum, Mellansverige; [Available from: https://cancercentrum.se/globalassets/cancerdiagnoser/blod-lymfom-myelom/mds/rapport/20240927_mds_nationell_rapport2023.pdf.
- Cogle CR, Craig BM, Rollison DE, List AF. Incidence of the myelodysplastic syndromes using a novel claims-based algorithm: high number of uncaptured cases by cancer registries. Blood. 2011;117(26):7121-5.
- 8. Greenberg PL, Tuechler H, Schanz J, Sanz G, Garcia-Manero G, Solé F, et al. Revised international prognostic scoring system for myelodysplastic syndromes. Blood. 2012;120(12):2454-65.

- 9. van Zeventer IA, de Graaf AO, van der Klauw MM, Vellenga E, van der Reijden BA, Schuringa JJ, et al. Peripheral blood cytopenias in the aging general population and risk of incident hematological disease and mortality. Blood advances. 2021;5(17):3266-78.
- Vardiman JW, Thiele J, Arber DA, Brunning RD, Borowitz MJ, Porwit A, et al. The 2008 revision of the World Health Organization (WHO) classification of myeloid neoplasms and acute leukemia: rationale and important changes. Blood. 2009;114(5):937-51.
- Della Porta MG, Travaglino E, Boveri E, Ponzoni M, Malcovati L, Papaemmanuil E, et al. Minimal morphological criteria for defining bone marrow dysplasia: a basis for clinical implementation of WHO classification of myelodysplastic syndromes. Leukemia. 2015;29(1):66-75.
- 12. Della Porta MG, Malcovati L, Boveri E, Travaglino E, Pietra D, Pascutto C, et al. Clinical relevance of bone marrow fibrosis and CD34-positive cell clusters in primary myelodysplastic syndromes. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27(5):754-62.
- 13. Horny HP, Sotlar K, Valent P. Diagnostic value of histology and immunohistochemistry in myelodysplastic syndromes. Leuk Res. 2007;31(12):1609-16.
- 14. Valent P, Orazi A, Büsche G, Schmitt-Gräff A, George TI, Sotlar K, et al. Standards and impact of hematopathology in myelodysplastic syndromes (MDS). Oncotarget. 2010;1(7):483-96.
- 15. Saft L, Karimi M, Ghaderi M, Matolcsy A, Mufti GJ, Kulasekararaj A, et al. p53 protein expression independently predicts outcome in patients with lower-risk myelodysplastic syndromes with del(5q). Haematologica. 2014;99(6):1041-9.
- 16. Haase D, Germing U, Schanz J, Pfeilstocker M, Nosslinger T, Hildebrandt B, et al. New insights into the prognostic impact of the karyotype in MDS and correlation with subtypes: evidence from a core dataset of 2124 patients. Blood. 2007;110(13):4385-95.
- 17. Haase D. Cytogenetic features in myelodysplastic syndromes. Ann Hematol. 2008;87(7):515-26.

- Tashakori M, Kadia T, Loghavi S, Daver N, Kanagal-Shamanna R, Pierce S, et al. TP53 copy number and protein expression inform mutation status across risk categories in acute myeloid leukemia. Blood. 2022;140(1):58-72.
- 19. Papaemmanuil E, Gerstung M, Malcovati L, Tauro S, Gundem G, Van Loo P, et al. Clinical and biological implications of driver mutations in myelodysplastic syndromes. Blood. 2013;122(22):3616-27; quiz 99.
- 20. Haferlach T, Nagata Y, Grossmann V, Okuno Y, Bacher U, Nagae G, et al. Landscape of genetic lesions in 944 patients with myelodysplastic syndromes. Leukemia. 2014;28(2):241-7.
- 21. Bejar R, Stevenson K, Abdel-Wahab O, Galili N, Nilsson B, Garcia-Manero G, et al. Clinical effect of point mutations in myelodysplastic syndromes. N Engl J Med. 2011;364(26):2496-506.
- 22. Bersanelli M, Travaglino E, Meggendorfer M, Matteuzzi T, Sala C, Mosca E, et al. Classification and Personalized Prognostic Assessment on the Basis of Clinical and Genomic Features in Myelodysplastic Syndromes. J Clin Oncol. 2021;39(11):1223-33.
- 23. Malcovati L, Stevenson K, Papaemmanuil E, Neuberg D, Bejar R, Boultwood J, et al. SF3B1-mutant MDS as a distinct disease subtype: a proposal from the International Working Group for the Prognosis of MDS. Blood. 2020;136(2):157-70.
- 24. Karimi M, Nilsson C, Dimitriou M, Jansson M, Matsson H, Unneberg P, et al. High-throughput mutational screening adds clinically important information in myelodysplastic syndromes and secondary or therapy-related acute myeloid leukemia. Haematologica. 2015;100(6):e223-5.
- 25. Lindsley RC, Mar BG, Mazzola E, Grauman PV, Shareef S, Allen SL, et al. Acute myeloid leukemia ontogeny is defined by distinct somatic mutations. Blood. 2015;125(9):1367-76.
- 26. Papaemmanuil E, Gerstung M, Bullinger L, Gaidzik VI, Paschka P, Roberts ND, et al. Genomic Classification and Prognosis in Acute Myeloid Leukemia. N Engl J Med. 2016;374(23):2209-21.

- 27. Malcovati L, Papaemmanuil E, Ambaglio I, Elena C, Galli A, Della Porta MG, et al. Driver somatic mutations identify distinct disease entities within myeloid neoplasms with myelodysplasia. Blood. 2014;124(9):1513-21.
- 28. Greenberg P, Cox C, LeBeau MM, Fenaux P, Morel P, Sanz G, et al. International scoring system for evaluating prognosis in myelodysplastic syndromes. Blood. 1997;89(6):2079-88.
- 29. Moreno Berggren D, Folkvaljon Y, Engvall M, Sundberg J, Lambe M, Antunovic P, et al. Prognostic scoring systems for myelodysplastic syndromes (MDS) in a population-based setting: a report from the Swedish MDS register. Br J Haematol. 2018;181(5):614-27.
- Bernard E, Tuechler H, Greenberg PL, Hasserjian RP, Arango Ossa JE, Nannya Y, et al. Molecular International Prognostic Scoring System for Myelodysplastic Syndromes. NEJM Evid. 2022;1(7):EVIDoa2200008.
- 31. Creignou M, Bernard E, Gasparini A, Tranberg A, Todisco G, Moura PL, et al. Early transfusion patterns improve the Molecular International Prognostic Scoring System (IPSS-M) prediction in myelodysplastic syndromes. J Intern Med. 2024;296(1):53-67.
- 32. Pfeilstocker M, Tuechler H, Sanz G, Schanz J, Garcia-Manero G, Sole F, et al. Time-dependent changes in mortality and transformation risk in MDS. Blood. 2016;128(7):902-10.
- 33. Zeidan AM, Platzbecker U, Bewersdorf JP, Stahl M, Ades L, Borate U, et al. Consensus proposal for revised International Working Group 2023 response criteria for higher-risk myelodysplastic syndromes. Blood. 2023;141(17):2047-61.
- 34. Malcovati L, Germing U, Kuendgen A, Della Porta MG, Pascutto C, Invernizzi R, et al. Time-dependent prognostic scoring system for predicting survival and leukemic evolution in myelodysplastic syndromes. J Clin Oncol. 2007;25(23):3503-10.
- 35. Malcovati L, Della Porta MG, Strupp C, Ambaglio I, Kuendgen A, Nachtkamp K, et al. Impact of the degree of anemia on the outcome of patients with myelodysplastic syndrome and its

integration into the WHO classification-based Prognostic Scoring System (WPSS). Haematologica. 2011;96(10):1433-40.

- 36. Della Porta MG, Malcovati L, Strupp C, Ambaglio I, Kuendgen A, Zipperer E, et al. Risk stratification based on both disease status and extra-hematologic comorbidities in patients with myelodysplastic syndrome. Haematologica. 2011;96(3):441-9.
- 37. Naqvi K, Garcia-Manero G, Sardesai S, Oh J, Vigil CE, Pierce S, et al. Association of comorbidities with overall survival in myelodys-plastic syndrome: development of a prognostic model. J Clin On-col. 2011;29(16):2240-6.
- 38. Sole F, Espinet B, Sanz GF, Cervera J, Calasanz MJ, Luno E, et al. Incidence, characterization and prognostic significance of chromosomal abnormalities in 640 patients with primary myelodysplastic syndromes. Grupo Cooperativo Espanol de Citogenetica Hematologica. Br J Haematol. 2000;108(2):346-56.
- 39. Bernasconi P, Klersy C, Boni M, Cavigliano PM, Calatroni S, Giardini I, et al. World Health Organization classification in combination with cytogenetic markers improves the prognostic stratification of patients with de novo primary myelodysplastic syndromes. Br J Haematol. 2007;137(3):193-205.
- 40. Boultwood J, Lewis S, Wainscoat JS. The 5q-syndrome. Blood. 1994;84(10):3253-60.
- 41. Boultwood J, Fidler C, Strickson AJ, Watkins F, Gama S, Kearney L, et al. Narrowing and genomic annotation of the commonly deleted region of the 5q- syndrome. Blood. 2002;99(12):4638-41.
- Zhao N, Stoffel A, Wang PW, Eisenbart JD, Espinosa R, 3rd, Larson RA, et al. Molecular delineation of the smallest commonly deleted region of chromosome 5 in malignant myeloid diseases to 1-1.5 Mb and preparation of a PAC-based physical map. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1997;94(13):6948-53.
- 43. Schanz J, Tuchler H, Sole F, Mallo M, Luno E, Cervera J, et al. New comprehensive cytogenetic scoring system for primary myelodysplastic syndromes (MDS) and oligoblastic acute myeloid

leukemia after MDS derived from an international database merge. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30(8):820-9.

- 44. Mallo M, Cervera J, Schanz J, Such E, Garcia-Manero G, Luno E, et al. Impact of adjunct cytogenetic abnormalities for prognostic stratification in patients with myelodysplastic syndrome and deletion 5q. Leukemia. 2011;25(1):110-20.
- 45. Germing U, Lauseker M, Hildebrandt B, Symeonidis A, Cermak J, Fenaux P, et al. Survival, prognostic factors and rates of leukemic transformation in 381 untreated patients with MDS and del(5q): a multicenter study. Leukemia. 2012;26(6):1286-92.
- 46. Nilsson L, Astrand-Grundstrom I, Arvidsson I, Jacobsson B, Hellstrom-Lindberg E, Hast R, et al. Isolation and characterization of hematopoietic progenitor/stem cells in 5q-deleted myelodysplastic syndromes: evidence for involvement at the hematopoietic stem cell level. Blood. 2000;96(6):2012-21.
- 47. Ebert BL, Pretz J, Bosco J, Chang CY, Tamayo P, Galili N, et al. Identification of RPS14 as a 5q- syndrome gene by RNA interference screen. Nature. 2008;451(7176):335-9.
- 48. List A, Dewald G, Bennett J, Giagounidis A, Raza A, Feldman E, et al. Lenalidomide in the myelodysplastic syndrome with chromosome 5q deletion. N Engl J Med. 2006;355(14):1456-65.
- 49. Schneider RK, Ademà V, Heckl D, Järås M, Mallo M, Lord AM, et al. Role of casein kinase 1A1 in the biology and targeted therapy of del(5q) MDS. Cancer Cell. 2014;26(4):509-20.
- 50. Kronke J, Fink EC, Hollenbach PW, MacBeth KJ, Hurst SN, Udeshi ND, et al. Lenalidomide induces ubiquitination and degradation of CK1alpha in del(5q) MDS. Nature. 2015;523(7559):183-8.
- 51. Fink EC, Ebert BL. The novel mechanism of lenalidomide activity. Blood. 2015;126(21):2366-9.
- 52. Lai F, Godley LA, Joslin J, Fernald AA, Liu J, Espinosa R, 3rd, et al. Transcript map and comparative analysis of the 1.5-Mb

commonly deleted segment of human 5q31 in malignant myeloid diseases with a del(5q). Genomics. 2001;71(2):235-45.

- Jerez A, Gondek LP, Jankowska AM, Makishima H, Przychodzen B, Tiu RV, et al. Topography, clinical, and genomic correlates of 5q myeloid malignancies revisited. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30(12):1343-9.
- 54. Hosono N, Makishima H, Mahfouz R, Przychodzen B, Yoshida K, Jerez A, et al. Recurrent genetic defects on chromosome 5q in myeloid neoplasms. Oncotarget. 2017;8(4):6483-95.
- 55. Baker SJ, Fearon ER, Nigro JM, Hamilton SR, Preisinger AC, Jessup JM, et al. Chromosome 17 deletions and p53 gene mutations in colorectal carcinomas. Science. 1989;244(4901):217-21.
- 56. Schanz J, Steidl C, Fonatsch C, Pfeilstocker M, Nosslinger T, Tuechler H, et al. Coalesced multicentric analysis of 2,351 patients with myelodysplastic syndromes indicates an underestimation of poor-risk cytogenetics of myelodysplastic syndromes in the international prognostic scoring system. J Clin Oncol. 2011;29(15):1963-70.
- 57. Haase D, Stevenson KE, Neuberg D, Maciejewski JP, Nazha A, Sekeres MA, et al. TP53 mutation status divides myelodysplastic syndromes with complex karyotypes into distinct prognostic subgroups. Leukemia. 2019;33(7):1747-58.
- Jadersten M, Saft L, Smith A, Kulasekararaj A, Pomplun S, Gohring G, et al. TP53 mutations in low-risk myelodysplastic syndromes with del(5q) predict disease progression. J Clin Oncol. 2011;29(15):1971-9.
- 59. Jadersten M, Saft L, Pellagatti A, Gohring G, Wainscoat JS, Boultwood J, et al. Clonal heterogeneity in the 5q- syndrome: p53 expressing progenitors prevail during lenalidomide treatment and expand at disease progression. Haematologica. 2009;94(12):1762-6.
- 60. Sperling AS, Guerra VA, Kennedy JA, Yan Y, Hsu JI, Wang F, et al. Lenalidomide promotes the development of TP53-mutated therapy-related myeloid neoplasms. Blood. 2022;140(16):1753-63.

- 61. Mossner M, Jann JC, Nowak D, Platzbecker U, Giagounidis A, Gotze K, et al. Prevalence, clonal dynamics and clinical impact of TP53 mutations in patients with myelodysplastic syndrome with isolated deletion (5q) treated with lenalidomide: results from a prospective multicenter study of the german MDS study group (GMDS). Leukemia. 2016;30(9):1956-9.
- 62. Haferlach C, Dicker F, Herholz H, Schnittger S, Kern W, Haferlach T. Mutations of the TP53 gene in acute myeloid leukemia are strongly associated with a complex aberrant karyotype. Leukemia. 2008;22(8):1539-41.
- 63. Jasek M, Gondek LP, Bejanyan N, Tiu R, Huh J, Theil KS, et al. TP53 mutations in myeloid malignancies are either homozygous or hemizygous due to copy number-neutral loss of heterozygosity or deletion of 17p. Leukemia. 2010;24(1):216-9.
- 64. Kulasekararaj AG, Smith AE, Mian SA, Mohamedali AM, Krishnamurthy P, Lea NC, et al. TP53 mutations in myelodysplastic syndrome are strongly correlated with aberrations of chromosome 5, and correlate with adverse prognosis. Br J Haematol. 2013;160(5):660-72.
- 65. Rausch T, Jones DT, Zapatka M, Stütz AM, Zichner T, Weischenfeldt J, et al. Genome sequencing of pediatric medulloblastoma links catastrophic DNA rearrangements with TP53 mutations. Cell. 2012;148(1-2):59-71.
- 66. Bernard E, Nannya Y, Hasserjian RP, Devlin SM, Tuechler H, Medina-Martinez JS, et al. Implications of TP53 allelic state for genome stability, clinical presentation and outcomes in myelodysplastic syndromes. Nat Med. 2020;26(10):1549-56.
- 67. Grob T, Al Hinai ASA, Sanders MA, Kavelaars FG, Rijken M, Gradowska PL, et al. Molecular characterization of mutant TP53 acute myeloid leukemia and high-risk myelodysplastic syndrome. Blood. 2022;139(15):2347-54.
- 68. Weinberg OK, Siddon A, Madanat YF, Gagan J, Arber DA, Dal Cin P, et al. TP53 mutation defines a unique subgroup within

complex karyotype de novo and therapy-related MDS/AML. Blood advances. 2022;6(9):2847-53.

- 69. Harris NL, Jaffe ES, Diebold J, Flandrin G, Muller-Hermelink HK, Vardiman J, et al. The World Health Organization classification of neoplastic diseases of the hematopoietic and lymphoid tissues. Report of the Clinical Advisory Committee meeting, Airlie House, Virginia, November, 1997. Ann Oncol. 1999;10(12):1419-32.
- Naqvi K, Jabbour E, Bueso-Ramos C, Pierce S, Borthakur G, Estrov Z, et al. Implications of discrepancy in morphologic diagnosis of myelodysplastic syndrome between referral and tertiary care centers. Blood. 2011;118(17):4690-3.
- 71. Hasserjian RP, Campigotto F, Klepeis V, Fu B, Wang SA, Bueso-Ramos C, et al. De novo acute myeloid leukemia with 20-29% blasts is less aggressive than acute myeloid leukemia with >/=30% blasts in older adults: a Bone Marrow Pathology Group study. Am J Hematol. 2014;89(11):E193-9.
- 72. DiNardo CD, Garcia-Manero G, Pierce S, Nazha A, Bueso-Ramos C, Jabbour E, et al. Interactions and relevance of blast percentage and treatment strategy among younger and older patients with acute myeloid leukemia (AML) and myelodysplastic syndrome (MDS). Am J Hematol. 2016;91(2):227-32.
- 73. Jaiswal S, Fontanillas P, Flannick J, Manning A, Grauman PV, Mar BG, et al. Age-related clonal hematopoiesis associated with adverse outcomes. N Engl J Med. 2014;371(26):2488-98.
- 74. Valent P, Orazi A, Steensma DP, Ebert BL, Haase D, Malcovati L, et al. Proposed minimal diagnostic criteria for myelodysplastic syndromes (MDS) and potential pre-MDS conditions. Oncotarget. 2017;8(43):73483-500.
- 75. Genovese G, Kahler AK, Handsaker RE, Lindberg J, Rose SA, Bakhoum SF, et al. Clonal hematopoiesis and blood-cancer risk inferred from blood DNA sequence. N Engl J Med. 2014;371(26):2477-87.

- 76. Jaiswal S, Natarajan P, Silver AJ, Gibson CJ, Bick AG, Shvartz E, et al. Clonal Hematopoiesis and Risk of Atherosclerotic Cardiovascular Disease. N Engl J Med. 2017;377(2):111-21.
- 77. Wong TN, Ramsingh G, Young AL, Miller CA, Touma W, Welch JS, et al. Role of TP53 mutations in the origin and evolution of therapy-related acute myeloid leukaemia. Nature. 2015;518(7540):552-5.
- 78. Abelson S, Collord G, Ng SWK, Weissbrod O, Mendelson Cohen N, Niemeyer E, et al. Prediction of acute myeloid leukaemia risk in healthy individuals. Nature. 2018;559(7714):400-4.
- 79. Fenaux P, Santini V, Spiriti MAA, Giagounidis A, Schlag R, Radinoff A, et al. A phase 3 randomized, placebo-controlled study assessing the efficacy and safety of epoetin-alpha in anemic patients with low-risk MDS. Leukemia. 2018;32(12):2648-58.
- 80. Group NM. Guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of Myelodysplastic Syndrome and Chronic Myelomonocytic Leukemia Nordic MDS Group 10th update, December 2021.: Nordic MDS Group; [Available from: https://www.nmds.org/media/4/download.
- 81. Myelodysplastiskt syndrom v. Nationellt vårdprogram för myelodysplastiska neoplasier (MDS) och MDS/myeloproliferativa neoplasier (MPN) Regionala cancercentrum i samverkan; [Available from: https://kunskapsbanken.cancercentrum.se/globalassets/cancerdiagnoser/blod-lymfom-myelom/mds/vardprogram/nationelltvardprogram-myelodysplastiskt-syndrom-mds.pdf.
- 82. Hellstrom-Lindberg E, Gulbrandsen N, Lindberg G, Ahlgren T, Dahl IM, Dybedal I, et al. A validated decision model for treating the anaemia of myelodysplastic syndromes with erythropoietin + granulocyte colony-stimulating factor: significant effects on quality of life. Br J Haematol. 2003;120(6):1037-46.
- 83. Park S, Grabar S, Kelaidi C, Beyne-Rauzy O, Picard F, Bardet V, et al. Predictive factors of response and survival in myelodysplastic syndrome treated with erythropoietin and G-CSF: the GFM experience. Blood. 2008;111(2):574-82.

- 84. Park S, Kelaidi C, Sapena R, Vassilieff D, Beyne-Rauzy O, Coiteux V, et al. Early introduction of ESA in low risk MDS patients may delay the need for RBC transfusion: a retrospective analysis on 112 patients. Leuk Res. 2010;34(11):1430-6.
- 85. Garelius HK, Johnston WT, Smith AG, Park S, de Swart L, Fenaux P, et al. Erythropoiesis-stimulating agents significantly delay the onset of a regular transfusion need in nontransfused patients with lower-risk myelodysplastic syndrome. J Intern Med. 2017;281(3):284-99.
- 86. Garelius HKG, Bagguley T, Taylor A, Fenaux P, Bowen D, Symeonidis A, et al. Survival and quality of life in patients with lower risk myelodysplastic syndromes exposed to erythropoiesisstimulating agents: an observational cohort study. Lancet Haematol. 2025;12(2):e128-e37.
- 87. Jadersten M, Malcovati L, Dybedal I, Della Porta MG, Invernizzi R, Montgomery SM, et al. Erythropoietin and granulocyte-colony stimulating factor treatment associated with improved survival in myelodysplastic syndrome. J Clin Oncol. 2008;26(21):3607-13.
- 88. Fenaux P, Platzbecker U, Mufti GJ, Garcia-Manero G, Buckstein R, Santini V, et al. Luspatercept in Patients with Lower-Risk Myelodysplastic Syndromes. N Engl J Med. 2020;382(2):140-51.
- 89. Stahl M, DeVeaux M, de Witte T, Neukirchen J, Sekeres MA, Brunner AM, et al. The use of immunosuppressive therapy in MDS: clinical outcomes and their predictors in a large international patient cohort. Blood advances. 2018;2(14):1765-72.
- 90. Stahl M, Bewersdorf JP, Giri S, Wang R, Zeidan AM. Use of immunosuppressive therapy for management of myelodysplastic syndromes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Haematologica. 2020;105(1):102-11.
- 91. Knipp S, Hildebrand B, Kundgen A, Giagounidis A, Kobbe G, Haas R, et al. Intensive chemotherapy is not recommended for patients aged >60 years who have myelodysplastic syndromes or acute myeloid leukemia with high-risk karyotypes. Cancer. 2007;110(2):345-52.

- 92. de Witte T, Suciu S, Verhoef G, Labar B, Archimbaud E, Aul C, et al. Intensive chemotherapy followed by allogeneic or autologous stem cell transplantation for patients with myelodysplastic syndromes (MDSs) and acute myeloid leukemia following MDS. Blood. 2001;98(8):2326-31.
- 93. Hast R, Hellstrom-Lindberg E, Ohm L, Bjorkholm M, Celsing F, Dahl IM, et al. No benefit from adding GM-CSF to induction chemotherapy in transforming myelodysplastic syndromes: better outcome in patients with less proliferative disease. Leukemia. 2003;17(9):1827-33.
- 94. Denzlinger C, Bowen D, Benz D, Gelly K, Brugger W, Kanz L. Low-dose melphalan induces favourable responses in elderly patients with high-risk myelodysplastic syndromes or secondary acute myeloid leukaemia. Br J Haematol. 2000;108(1):93-5.
- 95. Robak T, Szmigielska-Kaplon A, Urbanska-Rys H, Chojnowski K, Wrzesien-Kus A. Efficacy and toxicity of low-dose melphalan in myelodysplastic syndromes and acute myeloid leukemia with multilineage dysplasia. Neoplasma. 2003;50(3):172-5.
- 96. Lubbert M, Suciu S, Baila L, Ruter BH, Platzbecker U, Giagounidis A, et al. Low-dose decitabine versus best supportive care in elderly patients with intermediate- or high-risk myelodysplastic syndrome (MDS) ineligible for intensive chemotherapy: final results of the randomized phase III study of the European Organisation for Research and Treatment of Cancer Leukemia Group and the German MDS Study Group. J Clin Oncol. 2011;29(15):1987-96.
- 97. Silverman LR, Demakos EP, Peterson BL, Kornblith AB, Holland JC, Odchimar-Reissig R, et al. Randomized controlled trial of azacitidine in patients with the myelodysplastic syndrome: a study of the cancer and leukemia group B. J Clin Oncol. 2002;20(10):2429-40.
- 98. Fenaux P, Mufti GJ, Hellstrom-Lindberg E, Santini V, Finelli C, Giagounidis A, et al. Efficacy of azacitidine compared with that of conventional care regimens in the treatment of higher-risk

Clinical and genetic studies of high-risk myelodysplastic syndromes and acute myeloid leukemia with chromosome 5q deletion

myelodysplastic syndromes: a randomised, open-label, phase III study. Lancet Oncol. 2009;10(3):223-32.

- 99. Silverman LR, Fenaux P, Mufti GJ, Santini V, Hellström-Lindberg E, Gattermann N, et al. Continued azacitidine therapy beyond time of first response improves quality of response in patients with higher-risk myelodysplastic syndromes. Cancer. 2011;117(12):2697-702.
- 100. Gore SD, Fenaux P, Santini V, Bennett JM, Silverman LR, Seymour JF, et al. A multivariate analysis of the relationship between response and survival among patients with higher-risk myelodysplastic syndromes treated within azacitidine or conventional care regimens in the randomized AZA-001 trial. Haematologica. 2013;98(7):1067-72.
- 101. Mozessohn L, Cheung MC, Fallahpour S, Gill T, Maloul A, Zhang L, et al. Azacitidine in the 'real-world': an evaluation of 1101 higher-risk myelodysplastic syndrome/low blast count acute myeloid leukaemia patients in Ontario, Canada. Br J Haematol. 2018;181(6):803-15.
- 102. Ades L, Boehrer S, Prebet T, Beyne-Rauzy O, Legros L, Ravoet C, et al. Efficacy and safety of lenalidomide in intermediate-2 or high-risk myelodysplastic syndromes with 5q deletion: results of a phase 2 study. Blood. 2009;113(17):3947-52.
- 103. Mollgard L, Saft L, Treppendahl MB, Dybedal I, Norgaard JM, Astermark J, et al. Clinical effect of increasing doses of lenalidomide in high-risk myelodysplastic syndrome and acute myeloid leukemia with chromosome 5 abnormalities. Haematologica. 2011;96(7):963-71.
- 104. Chen Y, Kantarjian H, Estrov Z, Faderl S, Ravandi F, Rey K, et al. A phase II study of lenalidomide alone in relapsed/refractory acute myeloid leukemia or high-risk myelodysplastic syndromes with chromosome 5 abnormalities. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma Leuk. 2012;12(5):341-4.
- 105. Cherian MA, Tibes R, Gao F, Fletcher T, Fiala M, Uy GL, et al. A study of high-dose lenalidomide induction and low-dose

lenalidomide maintenance therapy for patients with hypomethylating agent refractory myelodysplastic syndrome. Leuk Lymphoma. 2016;57(11):2535-40.

- 106. Zeidan AM, Smith BD, Carraway HE, Gojo I, DeZern A, Gore SD. A phase 2 trial of high dose lenalidomide in patients with relapsed/refractory higher-risk myelodysplastic syndromes and acute myeloid leukaemia with trilineage dysplasia. Br J Haematol. 2017;176(2):241-7.
- 107. Narayan R, Garcia JS, Percival ME, Berube C, Coutre S, Gotlib J, et al. Sequential azacitidine plus lenalidomide in previously treated elderly patients with acute myeloid leukemia and higher risk myelodysplastic syndrome. Leuk Lymphoma. 2016;57(3):609-15.
- 108. Sekeres MA, Tiu RV, Komrokji R, Lancet J, Advani AS, Afable M, et al. Phase 2 study of the lenalidomide and azacitidine combination in patients with higher-risk myelodysplastic syndromes. Blood. 2012;120(25):4945-51.
- 109. Mittelman M, Filanovsky K, Ofran Y, Rosenbaum H, Raanani P, Braester A, et al. Azacitidine-lenalidomide (ViLen) combination yields a high response rate in higher risk myelodysplastic syndromes (MDS)-ViLen-01 protocol. Ann Hematol. 2016;95(11):1811-8.
- 110. Sekeres MA, Othus M, List AF, Odenike O, Stone RM, Gore SD, et al. Randomized Phase II Study of Azacitidine Alone or in Combination With Lenalidomide or With Vorinostat in Higher-Risk Myelodysplastic Syndromes and Chronic Myelomonocytic Leukemia: North American Intergroup Study SWOG S1117. J Clin Oncol. 2017;35(24):2745-53.
- 111. Ades L, Duployez N, Guerci-Bresler A, Laribi K, Peterlin P, Vey N, et al. A randomised phase II study of azacitidine (AZA) alone or with Lenalidomide (LEN), Valproic acid (VPA) or Idarubicin (IDA) in higher-Risk MDS or low blast AML: GFM's "pick a winner" trial, with the impact of somatic mutations. Br J Haematol. 2022;198(3):535-44.

- 112. Lagadinou ED, Sach A, Callahan K, Rossi RM, Neering SJ, Minhajuddin M, et al. BCL-2 inhibition targets oxidative phosphorylation and selectively eradicates quiescent human leukemia stem cells. Cell stem cell. 2013;12(3):329-41.
- 113. Jilg S, Reidel V, Muller-Thomas C, Konig J, Schauwecker J, Hockendorf U, et al. Blockade of BCL-2 proteins efficiently induces apoptosis in progenitor cells of high-risk myelodysplastic syndromes patients. Leukemia. 2016;30(1):112-23.
- 114. DiNardo CD, Jonas BA, Pullarkat V, Thirman MJ, Garcia JS, Wei AH, et al. Azacitidine and Venetoclax in Previously Untreated Acute Myeloid Leukemia. N Engl J Med. 2020;383(7):617-29.
- 115. Pollyea DA, Pratz KW, Wei AH, Pullarkat V, Jonas BA, Recher C, et al. Outcomes in Patients with Poor-Risk Cytogenetics with or without TP53 Mutations Treated with Venetoclax and Azacitidine. Clin Cancer Res. 2022;28(24):5272-9.
- 116. Garcia JS, Platzbecker U, Odenike O, Fleming S, Fong CY, Borate U, et al. Efficacy and safety of venetoclax plus azacitidine for patients with treatment-naive high-risk myelodysplastic syndromes. Blood. 2025;145(11):1126-35.
- 117. Duffy MJ, Synnott NC, O'Grady S, Crown J. Targeting p53 for the treatment of cancer. Semin Cancer Biol. 2022;79:58-67.
- 118. Sallman DA, DeZern AE, Garcia-Manero G, Steensma DP, Roboz GJ, Sekeres MA, et al. Eprenetapopt (APR-246) and Azacitidine in TP53-Mutant Myelodysplastic Syndromes. J Clin Oncol. 2021;39(14):1584-94.
- 119. Cluzeau T, Sebert M, Rahme R, Cuzzubbo S, Lehmann-Che J, Madelaine I, et al. Eprenetapopt Plus Azacitidine in TP53-Mutated Myelodysplastic Syndromes and Acute Myeloid Leukemia: A Phase II Study by the Groupe Francophone des Myelodysplasies (GFM). J Clin Oncol. 2021;39(14):1575-83.
- 120. Garcia-Manero G. Current status of phase 3 clinical trials in highrisk myelodysplastic syndromes: pitfalls and recommendations. Lancet Haematol. 2023;10(1):e71-e8.

- 121. Sallman DA, Al Malki MM, Asch AS, Wang ES, Jurcic JG, Bradley TJ, et al. Magrolimab in Combination With Azacitidine in Patients With Higher-Risk Myelodysplastic Syndromes: Final Results of a Phase Ib Study. J Clin Oncol. 2023;41(15):2815-26.
- 122. Zeidner JF, Sallman DA, Recher C, Daver NG, Leung AY, Hiwase DK, et al. Magrolimab plus azacitidine vs physician's choice for untreated TP53-mutated acute myeloid leukemia: the ENHANCE-2 study. Blood. 2025.
- 123. Shimoni A, Robin M, Iacobelli S, Beelen D, Mufti GJ, Ciceri F, et al. Allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplantation in patients with myelodysplastic syndrome using treosulfan based compared to other reduced-intensity or myeloablative conditioning regimens. A report of the chronic malignancies working party of the EBMT. Br J Haematol. 2021;195(3):417-28.
- 124. Sorror ML, Maris MB, Storb R, Baron F, Sandmaier BM, Maloney DG, et al. Hematopoietic cell transplantation (HCT)-specific comorbidity index: a new tool for risk assessment before allogeneic HCT. Blood. 2005;106(8):2912-9.
- 125. Della Porta MG, Alessandrino EP, Bacigalupo A, van Lint MT, Malcovati L, Pascutto C, et al. Predictive factors for the outcome of allogeneic transplantation in patients with MDS stratified according to the revised IPSS-R. Blood. 2014;123(15):2333-42.
- 126. Robin M, Porcher R, Ades L, Raffoux E, Michallet M, Francois S, et al. HLA-matched allogeneic stem cell transplantation improves outcome of higher risk myelodysplastic syndrome A prospective study on behalf of SFGM-TC and GFM. Leukemia. 2015;29(7):1496-501.
- 127. de Witte T, Bowen D, Robin M, Malcovati L, Niederwieser D, Yakoub-Agha I, et al. Allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation for MDS and CMML: recommendations from an international expert panel. Blood. 2017;129(13):1753-62.
- 128. DeFilipp Z, Ciurea SO, Cutler C, Robin M, Warlick ED, Nakamura R, et al. Hematopoietic Cell Transplantation in the Management of Myelodysplastic Syndrome: An Evidence-Based Review

from the American Society for Transplantation and Cellular Therapy Committee on Practice Guidelines. Transplant Cell Ther. 2023;29(2):71-81.

- 129. Gerds AT, Gooley TA, Estey EH, Appelbaum FR, Deeg HJ, Scott BL. Pretransplantation therapy with azacitidine vs induction chemotherapy and posttransplantation outcome in patients with MDS. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant. 2012;18(8):1211-8.
- 130. Damaj G, Duhamel A, Robin M, Beguin Y, Michallet M, Mohty M, et al. Impact of azacitidine before allogeneic stem-cell transplantation for myelodysplastic syndromes: a study by the Societe Francaise de Greffe de Moelle et de Therapie-Cellulaire and the Groupe-Francophone des Myelodysplasies. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30(36):4533-40.
- 131. Beelen DW, Stelljes M, Remenyi P, Wagner-Drouet EM, Dreger P, Bethge W, et al. Treosulfan compared with reduced-intensity busulfan improves allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplantation outcomes of older acute myeloid leukemia and myelodysplastic syndrome patients: Final analysis of a prospective randomized trial. Am J Hematol. 2022;97(8):1023-34.
- 132. Bejar R, Stevenson KE, Caughey B, Lindsley RC, Mar BG, Stojanov P, et al. Somatic mutations predict poor outcome in patients with myelodysplastic syndrome after hematopoietic stemcell transplantation. J Clin Oncol. 2014;32(25):2691-8.
- 133. Della Porta MG, Galli A, Bacigalupo A, Zibellini S, Bernardi M, Rizzo E, et al. Clinical Effects of Driver Somatic Mutations on the Outcomes of Patients With Myelodysplastic Syndromes Treated With Allogeneic Hematopoietic Stem-Cell Transplantation. J Clin Oncol. 2016;34(30):3627-37.
- 134. Yoshizato T, Nannya Y, Atsuta Y, Shiozawa Y, Iijima-Yamashita Y, Yoshida K, et al. Genetic abnormalities in myelodysplasia and secondary acute myeloid leukemia: impact on outcome of stem cell transplantation. Blood. 2017;129(17):2347-58.
- 135. Nannya Y, Tobiasson M, Sato S, Bernard E, Ohtake S, Takeda J, et al. Postazacitidine clone size predicts long-term outcome of

patients with myelodysplastic syndromes and related myeloid neoplasms. Blood advances. 2023;7(14):3624-36.

- 136. Versluis J, Saber W, Tsai HK, Gibson CJ, Dillon LW, Mishra A, et al. Allogeneic Hematopoietic Cell Transplantation Improves Outcome in Myelodysplastic Syndrome Across High-Risk Genetic Subgroups: Genetic Analysis of the Blood and Marrow Transplant Clinical Trials Network 1102 Study. J Clin Oncol. 2023;41(28):4497-510.
- 137. Tobiasson M, Pandzic T, Illman J, Nilsson L, Westrom S, Ejerblad E, et al. Patient-Specific Measurable Residual Disease Markers Predict Outcome in Patients With Myelodysplastic Syndrome and Related Diseases After Hematopoietic Stem-Cell Transplantation. J Clin Oncol. 2024;42(12):1378-90.
- 138. Cheson BD, Greenberg PL, Bennett JM, Lowenberg B, Wijermans PW, Nimer SD, et al. Clinical application and proposal for modification of the International Working Group (IWG) response criteria in myelodysplasia. Blood. 2006;108(2):419-25.
- Schlegelberger B, Metzke S, Harder S, Zühlke-Jenisch R, Zhang Y, Siebert R. Classical and Molecular Cytogenetics of Tumor Cells. In: Wegner R-D, editor. Diagnostic Cytogenetics. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg; 1999. p. 151-85.
- 140. Behrens YL, Thomay K, Hagedorn M, Ebersold J, Henrich L, Nustede R, et al. Comparison of different methods for telomere length measurement in whole blood and blood cell subsets: Recommendations for telomere length measurement in hematological diseases. Genes Chromosomes Cancer. 2017;56(9):700-8.
- 141. Lange K, Holm L, Vang Nielsen K, Hahn A, Hofmann W, Kreipe H, et al. Telomere shortening and chromosomal instability in myelodysplastic syndromes. Genes Chromosomes Cancer. 2010;49(3):260-9.
- 142. Thiele J, Kvasnicka HM, Facchetti F, Franco V, van der Walt J, Orazi A. European consensus on grading bone marrow fibrosis and assessment of cellularity. Haematologica. 2005;90(8):1128-32.

- 143. Mufti GJ, Bennett JM, Goasguen J, Bain BJ, Baumann I, Brunning R, et al. Diagnosis and classification of myelodysplastic syndrome: International Working Group on Morphology of myelodysplastic syndrome (IWGM-MDS) consensus proposals for the definition and enumeration of myeloblasts and ring sideroblasts. Haematologica. 2008;93(11):1712-7.
- 144. World Medical Association Declaration of Helsinki: ethical principles for medical research involving human subjects. JAMA. 2013;310(20):2191-4.
- 145. Jung SH, Lee T, Kim K, George SL. Admissible two-stage designs for phase II cancer clinical trials. Stat Med. 2004;23(4):561-9.
- 146. Ramos F, Fernandez-Ferrero S, Suarez D, Barbon M, Rodriguez JA, Gil S, et al. Myelodysplastic syndrome: a search for minimal diagnostic criteria. Leuk Res. 1999;23(3):283-90.
- 147. Göhring G, Giagounidis A, Büsche G, Hofmann W, Kreipe HH, Fenaux P, et al. Cytogenetic follow-up by karyotyping and fluorescence in situ hybridization: implications for monitoring patients with myelodysplastic syndrome and deletion 5q treated with lenalidomide. Haematologica. 2011;96(2):319-22.
- 148. Sébert M, Komrokji RS, Sekeres MA, Prebet T, Cluzeau T, Santini V, et al. Impact of baseline cytogenetic findings and cytogenetic response on outcome of high-risk myelodysplastic syndromes and low blast count AML treated with azacitidine. Leuk Res. 2017;63:72-7.
- 149. Greenberg PL, Tuechler H, Schanz J, Sanz G, Garcia-Manero G, Sole F, et al. Cytopenia levels for aiding establishment of the diagnosis of myelodysplastic syndromes. Blood. 2016;128(16):2096-7.
- 150. Estey E, Hasserjian RP, Dohner H. Distinguishing AML from MDS: a fixed blast percentage may no longer be optimal. Blood. 2022;139(3):323-32.
- 151. Heuser M, Gabdoulline R, Loffeld P, Dobbernack V, Kreimeyer H, Pankratz M, et al. Individual outcome prediction for myelodysplastic syndrome (MDS) and secondary acute myeloid leukemia

from MDS after allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplantation. Ann Hematol. 2017;96(8):1361-72.

- 152. Borate U, Pugh K, Waller A, Welkie RL, Huang Y, Bewersdorf JP, et al. Reducing clinical trial eligibility barriers for patients with MDS: an icMDS position statement. Blood. 2025;145(13):1369-81.
- 153. Lindemann A, Patel AA, Silver NL, Tang L, Liu Z, Wang L, et al. COTI-2, A Novel Thiosemicarbazone Derivative, Exhibits Antitumor Activity in HNSCC through p53-dependent and -independent Mechanisms. Clin Cancer Res. 2019;25(18):5650-62.